
 
McCALL MEMORIAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES MONTHLY MEETING 
TUESDAY, JUNE 17, 2025; 7:30 am - 8:30 am 

Administrative Conference Room; 1000 State St. McCall, ID 83638 
For Microsoft Teams Link: Click here to join the meeting  

Virtual Meeting ID: 252 726 450 726 and Passcode: hS3j9et2 
Virtual Video Conference ID: 111 187 494 0 

 Phone Audio Only: 1 208-996-1717   Phone Conference ID: 926 567 70# 
 

UAGENDAU   
 
1. Call to Order – Andy Laidlaw, Chair 
 
2.  Safety Together Mission Moment: Commitment to Safety – Amber Green, SLM COO/CNO 
 
3.  ACTION Approval of the May 20 Meeting Minutes – Andy Laidlaw, Chair 
 
4.  Monthly Budget Review – Marge Krahn, Treasurer 
  
5.  ACTION Approve Asset Disposal Transfer Form – Greg Sims, SLHS Finance 
  
6. ACTION Approval of Director’s and Officer’s Insurance - Travis Leonard, Secretary  
 
7. FY26 Funding Request– Marge Krahn, Treasurer & Amber Green, SLM COO/CNO 
 
8. Housing Workgroup – Andy Laidlaw, Chair 
 ACTION Approval of Deed from Foundation – Steve Millemann, MMHD Legal Counsel 
 ACTION Approval of Lease Agreement – Steve Millemann, MMHD Legal Counsel 
 ACTION Approval of Joint Tenancy Agreement – Steve Millemann, MMHD Legal Counsel 
 ACTION Approval of Exercise of Option – Steve Millemann, MMHD Legal Counsel 
 ACTION Approval of Owners Representation – Andy Laidlaw, Chair 
 ACTION Approve Construction Payment Methodology – Andy Laidlaw, Chair 
 
9.  Health Services Agreement Workgroup – Mike Vineyard, Trustee 
  ACTION Approval of the June 4 Meeting Minutes– Andy Laidlaw, Chair 
 
10. Public Information Campaign – Aana Vannoy, Trustee 
 ACTION Approval of June 5 Workgroup Meeting Minutes 
 
11. Give Us a Vote – Update on State AG Complaint Submission-Andy Laidlaw, Chair & Steve 

Millemann, MMHD Legal Counsel 
 
12. St. Luke’s Reports 

• Ambulance Shelter Update – Ginger McCabe, SLHS VP System Operations  
• Financial Update - Kim Doman, SLHS Finance  
• McCall Operations Report – Amber Green, SLM COO/CNO 
• Population Health Area Report – Dennis Mesaros, VP Population Health 
• Community Board Report – Aana Vannoy 
• Quality Committee Report – Aana Vannoy 
• Foundation Board Report – Marge Krahn, Board Treasurer 

 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ZWMxMDVmODgtMmQwNi00OWIzLWIzOTYtYjUwY2VhNGZkMzhj%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2293fb7985-8893-49e5-8440-bb350d28a54f%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22152a630c-f1db-4f7b-92bb-b0a16d7fee5a%22%7d
tel:+1%20208-996-1717,,83652660#%20


13.  New Business – Andy Laidlaw, Chair 
 
14. Public Comment – Andy Laidlaw, Chair 
 
15.  Adjourn – Andy Laidlaw, Chair 
 
Upcoming Meetings: 
Next Board Meeting – Tuesday, July 15; 7:30 – 8:30 a.m. 
MMHD Housing Workgroup Meeting – Wednesday, June 18; 9:00 – 10:00 a.m. 
SLM Foundation Board – Wednesday, June 18; 2:00 – 4:00 p.m. 
SLM Community Board – Thursday, June 26; 7:00 – 9:00 a.m. 
Quality Committee – Thursday, June 19; 2:00 – 3:00 p.m. 
SLM Auxiliary Board – Friday, June 27; 3:00 – 5:00 p.m. 



June 26, 2025

St. Luke’s McCall Community Board
Safety Together Mission Moment



McCall Security 
Guard Story



3

Commitment to Safety
What is St. Luke’s current workplace safety focus?

In alignment with our Safety Together journey, we’re currently bringing together people, technology and processes as we innovate and plan the next phase of our work, which 
includes the following initiatives.

• A history of violence administrative alert will be implemented in myStLuke's/Epic in July .

• St. Luke’s received a grant through the Idaho Department of Emergency Management to incorporate the Evolv Weapons Detection System, which indicates a potential 
weapon on a person’s silhouette or in a bag/box, as part of the opening of the Center of Orthopedics and Sports Medicine (COSM).

• Operations leadership is collaborating with Human Resources to reimagine our security staffing model and increase staff levels to support our health care 
environments. The work includes ensuring our security leaders have International Association of Healthcare Security & Safety Certification for Workplace Violence 
Prevention, updating training of K-9 units certified in weapons detection and adding additional drones to make proactive patrols on campus.

• We’re in the process of scaling the Behavioral Response Team across the health system to provide proactive expertise to our frontline teams in preventing and de-
escalating crisis situations, which includes revisiting the current restraints policy. Additionally clinical teams will have access to lead psych RNs and a newly established 
CNA/mental health technician role that will embed expertise within the team.

• A governance structure is in the process of being put in place to ensure there is cross functional oversight, coordination and accountability to ensure a sustained, 
systemwide approach to keeping our workplace safe.



 
McCALL MEMORIAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES MONTHLY MEETING MINUTES 
TUESDAY MAY 20, 2025; 7:31 – 9:12 a.m. 
ADMINISTRATIVE CONFERENCE ROOM & MICROSOFT TEAMS VIRTUAL MEETING 
 
TRUSTEES PRESENT: Andy Laidlaw, Chair, Travis Leonard, Secretary, Marge Krahn, Treasurer 

Steve Clements, Angela Staup, Mike Vineyard, and Aana Vannoy, Trustees 
 
TRUSTEES ABSENT:  None.  
 
STANDING GUESTS: Mike Birkinbine, SLM Supply Chain, Laura Crawford SLM PR and Comm. 

Bus. Partner, Kim Doman, SLHS Finance, Sandee Gehrke, SLHS EVP  
COO, Amber Green, SLM COO/CNO, Jordan Heller, SLHS Legal Counsel, 
Alexa Hersel, SLM Exec. Asst., Hayley, Johnson, SLM Foundation Coord., 
Ginger McCabe, SLHS VP Ops., Dennis Mesaros, VP Pop. Health, and 
Jennifer Nevala, SLM Rehab Coord. 
 

PUBLIC PRESENT: Tom and Tomi Grote 
 
CALL TO ORDER – A quorum was present and Andy Laidlaw, Chair, convened the meeting at 7:31 
a.m.  The in-person trustee attendance included: Andy Laidlaw, Chair, Marge Krahn, Treasurer, and 
Aana Vannoy. In-person guests included: Amber Green, Alexa Hersel, Laura Crawford, and Jennifer 
Nevala. All others attended virtually.  
 
SAFETY TOGETHER MISSION MOMENT – Jennifer Nevala, Inpatient Rehabilitation Coordinator, 
provided a mission moment on the new hospital’s inpatient rehabilitation therapy department. The new 
space has improved patient care with new equipment, extra storage, and additional staff workstations.  
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES - Andy Laidlaw, Chair, referred to the April 15 and May 16 meeting minutes. 
 

ACTION:  MARGE KRAHN  MOVED, SECONDED BY  AANA VANNOY, TO APPROVE 
THE APRIL 15 & MAY 16, 2025, BOARD MEETING MINUTES, AS PRESENTED. THERE 
WAS NO DISCUSSION AND IT WAS UNANIMOUSLY APPROVED.  

 
MONTHLY BUDGET REVIEW – Marge Krahn, Treasurer, noted that the monthly transfer of funds was 
completed to maintain the FDIC standards. She will be attending the Idaho State Tax Commission’s 
budget and levy training session and continues to draft the FY26 budget.  
 
WEBSITE UPDATE – Travis Leonard, Secretary, reported that the website is now live at:  mmhd.info.  
 
HOUSING WORKGROUP – Andy Laidlaw, Chair, noted that the development agreement and the 
Option Agreement extension were approved. Discussions with the Idaho Health Facilities Authority 
continue, as well as revisions to the Joint Tenancy Agreement with the SLM Foundation.  
 
PUBLIC INFORMATION CAMPAIGN WORKGROUP -  Aana Vannoy, Trustee, reported that the 
workgroup is drafting content for questions raised from the public.  
 

ACTION:  MARGE KRAHN MOVED, SECONDED BY AANA VANNOY , TO APPROVE 
THE MAY 15, 2025, PUBLIC INFORMATION CAMPAIGN WORKGROUP MEETING 
MINUTES, AS PRESENTED. THERE WAS NO DISCUSSION AND IT WAS  
UNANIMOUSLY APPROVED.  



 
  
FY26 FUNDING REQUEST -  Amber Green, SLM COO/CNO, presented the draft FY26 funding 
request. Marge Krahn, Treasurer, described the line items in the draft M&O budget.  
 
AMBULANCE SHELTER UPDATE – Ginger McCabe, SLHS VP System Operations, provided an 
update on the ambulance shelter and living quarters project, which is progressing well. A discussion on 
projected increased lumber cost and contingency funds was held.  
 
FINANCIAL UPDATE – Kim Doman, SLHS Finance, provided a financial update.  
 
ST. LUKE’S McCALL OPERATIONS REPORT – Amber Green provided an operational update 
regarding staffing, housing, employee appreciation, quality scores, and new services. An update on the 
Area B construction was provided, and discussion was held on parking spaces. She also noted the 
SLM Foundation fundraising campaign to support remodeling the 3rd Street building for the outpatient 
therapy department that will move from the Lake Street Center. 
 
POPULATION HEALTH REPORT – Dennis Mesaros, SLHS VP Population Health, reported on recent 
legislative updates and the nationwide measles outbreak.  
 
SLM COMMUNITY BOARD & SLM QUALITY COMMITTEE – No reports.  
 
FOUNDATION BOARD – Marge Krahn, Board Treasurer, noted SLM Foundation board member 
changes.  
  
HEALTH SERVICES AGREEMENT WORKGROUP -  Mike Vineyard, Trustee, provided an update on 
the last workgroup meeting and a discussion ensued regarding the request for a nonbinding advisory 
vote and the potential dissolution process. He noted that the next workgroup meeting will take place on 
June 4.  
 

ACTION:  STEVE CLEMENTS MOVED, SECONDED BY TRAVIS LEONARD, TO 
APPROVE THE MAY 6, 2025, HEALTH SERVICES AGREEMENT WORKGROUP MEETING 
MINUTES, AS PRESENTED. THERE WAS NO DISCUSSION AND IT WAS UNANIMOUSLY 
APPROVED.  

 
NEW BUSINESS & PUBLIC COMMENT – No comments.  
 
Hearing no other comments or updates, the board adjourned at 9:12 a.m. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted,  
 
_________________________________  
 
Travis Leonard, MMHD Board Secretary  
 
:ah 



Type Date Num Adj Name Memo Clr Split Debit Credit Balance

ASSETS 5,607,682.28
Current Assets 5,607,682.28

Checking/Savings 2,940,976.57
IDF- Cash Sweep 2,667,194.82

Transfer 05/20/2025 Funds Transfer X IDF- Checking... 3,781.75 2,670,976.57
Deposit 05/31/2025 Interest X Interest Income 5,672.10 2,676,648.67

Total IDF- Cash Sweep 9,453.85 0.00 2,676,648.67

IDF- Checking-3112 23,071.51
Check 05/03/2025 ACH Verizon Memo:DBT C... X Office Supplies 35.93 23,035.58
Bill Pmt -Check 05/06/2025 564 Column Software P... Memo:CHEC... X Accounts Paya... 32.34 23,003.24
Check 05/06/2025 565 United States Post ... Memo:CHEC... X Postage and D... 73.00 22,930.24
Check 05/08/2025 Go Daddy DBT CRD 15... X Office Supplies 62.34 22,867.90
Check 05/09/2025 Go Daddy DBT CRD 11... X Office Supplies 95.88 22,772.02
Bill Pmt -Check 05/15/2025 566 Lamm and Compan... Memo:CHEC... X Accounts Paya... 250.00 22,522.02
Bill Pmt -Check 05/15/2025 567 Millemann, Pembert... Memo:CHEC... X Accounts Paya... 9,372.65 13,149.37
Transfer 05/15/2025 Funds Transfer X IDF- Money M... 710.24 13,859.61
Deposit 05/20/2025 Deposit Paye... X -SPLIT- 7,917.14 21,776.75
Transfer 05/20/2025 Funds Transf... X IDF- Cash Sw... 3,781.75 17,995.00
Bill Pmt -Check 05/21/2025 568 Column Software P... Accounts Paya... 11.36 17,983.64
Bill Pmt -Check 05/21/2025 569 Column Software P... Accounts Paya... 10.49 17,973.15
Deposit 05/31/2025 Idaho First Bank INTEREST D... X Interest Income 3.03 17,976.18

Total IDF- Checking-3112 8,630.41 13,725.74 17,976.18

IDF- Money Market-4931 250,710.24
Transfer 05/15/2025 Funds Transf... IDF- Checking... 710.24 250,000.00
Deposit 05/15/2025 Idaho First Bank INTEREST D... X Interest Income 710.92 250,710.92

Total IDF- Money Market-4931 710.92 710.24 250,710.92

US BANK- 1033 0.00
Total US BANK- 1033 0.00

Total Checking/Savings 18,795.18 14,435.98 2,945,335.77

Accounts Receivable 451,637.74
Accounts Receivable 451,637.74

Payment 05/20/2025 Valley County Warr... Undeposited F... 69.21 451,568.53
Payment 05/20/2025 Valley County Warr... Undeposited F... 219.24 451,349.29
Payment 05/20/2025 Valley County Warr... Undeposited F... 428.62 450,920.67
Payment 05/20/2025 Valley County Warr... Undeposited F... 6,955.39 443,965.28

Total Accounts Receivable 0.00 7,672.46 443,965.28

Total Accounts Receivable 0.00 7,672.46 443,965.28

Other Current Assets 2,215,067.97
Account for Credit Transfer 0.00
Total Account for Credit Transfer 0.00

Prepaid Items 663,798.98
Total Prepaid Items 663,798.98

Sales Tax Receivable 27,312.28
Total Sales Tax Receivable 27,312.28

Delinquent Taxes Receivable 32,000.00
Total Delinquent Taxes Receivable 32,000.00

Taxes Receivable, Net 1,491,956.71
Total Taxes Receivable, Net 1,491,956.71

Undeposited Funds 0.00
Payment 05/20/2025 Valley County Warr... X Accounts Rec... 69.21 69.21
Payment 05/20/2025 Valley County Warr... X Accounts Rec... 219.24 288.45
Payment 05/20/2025 Valley County Warr... X Accounts Rec... 428.62 717.07
Payment 05/20/2025 Valley County Warr... X Accounts Rec... 6,955.39 7,672.46
Deposit 05/20/2025 -MULTIPLE- Deposit Paye... X IDF- Checking... 7,672.46 0.00

Total Undeposited Funds 7,672.46 7,672.46 0.00

Total Other Current Assets 7,672.46 7,672.46 2,215,067.97

Total Current Assets 26,467.64 29,780.90 5,604,369.02

Fixed Assets 0.00
Land 0.00
Total Land 0.00

Building Improvements 0.00
Total Building Improvements 0.00

Advance for Tenant Improvements 0.00
Total Advance for Tenant Improvements 0.00

Accumulated Depreciation 0.00
Total Accumulated Depreciation 0.00

Furniture and Equipment 0.00
Total Furniture and Equipment 0.00

11:14 AM McCall Memorial Hospital District

06/03/25 Balance Sheet Detail

Accrual Basis As of May 31, 2025

Page 1



Type Date Num Adj Name Memo Clr Split Debit Credit Balance

Medical Equipment 0.00
Total Medical Equipment 0.00

Total Fixed Assets 0.00

Other Assets 0.00
Cascade Property Loan 0.00
Total Cascade Property Loan 0.00

Security Deposits Asset 0.00
Total Security Deposits Asset 0.00

Total Other Assets 0.00

TOTAL ASSETS 26,467.64 29,780.90 5,604,369.02

LIABILITIES & EQUITY 5,607,682.28
Liabilities 1,518,586.19

Current Liabilities 1,518,586.19
Accounts Payable 0.00

Accounts Payable 0.00
Bill 05/06/2025 70E4... Column Software P... Legal Notices 10.49 10.49
Bill 05/06/2025 70E4... Column Software P... Legal Notices 10.49 20.98
Bill 05/06/2025 70E4... Column Software P... Legal Notices 11.36 32.34
Bill Pmt -Check 05/06/2025 564 Column Software P... Memo:CHEC... IDF- Checking... 32.34 0.00
Bill 05/15/2025 712721 Millemann, Pembert... Legal Fees 9,372.65 9,372.65
Bill 05/15/2025 60607 Lamm and Compan... Accounting 250.00 9,622.65
Bill Pmt -Check 05/15/2025 566 Lamm and Compan... Memo:CHEC... IDF- Checking... 250.00 9,372.65
Bill Pmt -Check 05/15/2025 567 Millemann, Pembert... Memo:CHEC... IDF- Checking... 9,372.65 0.00
Bill 05/21/2025 70E4... Column Software P... Legal Notices 11.36 11.36
Bill Pmt -Check 05/21/2025 568 Column Software P... IDF- Checking... 11.36 0.00
Bill 05/21/2025 70E4... Column Software P... Legal Notices 10.49 10.49
Bill Pmt -Check 05/21/2025 569 Column Software P... IDF- Checking... 10.49 0.00

Total Accounts Payable 9,676.84 9,676.84 0.00

Total Accounts Payable 9,676.84 9,676.84 0.00

Credit Cards 0.00
Total Credit Cards 0.00

Other Current Liabilities 1,518,586.19
A/P (Audit) 3,494.00
Total A/P (Audit) 3,494.00

Deferred Taxes 0.00
Total Deferred Taxes 0.00

Owed to St Lukes Bank Error 0.00
Total Owed to St Lukes Bank Error 0.00

Payroll Liabilities 0.00
Total Payroll Liabilities 0.00

Unavailable Property Taxes 1,515,092.19
Total Unavailable Property Taxes 1,515,092.19

Total Other Current Liabilities 1,518,586.19

Total Current Liabilities 9,676.84 9,676.84 1,518,586.19

Long Term Liabilities 0.00
Total Long Term Liabilities 0.00

Total Liabilities 9,676.84 9,676.84 1,518,586.19

Equity 4,089,096.09
Sinking Fund 1,498,172.00
Total Sinking Fund 1,498,172.00

Opening Balance Equity 0.00
Total Opening Balance Equity 0.00

Fund Balances 1,005,691.02
Total Fund Balances 1,005,691.02

Net Income 1,585,233.07
Total Net Income 9,943.99 6,630.73 1,581,919.81

Total Equity 9,943.99 6,630.73 4,085,782.83

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 19,620.83 16,307.57 5,604,369.02

11:14 AM McCall Memorial Hospital District

06/03/25 Balance Sheet Detail

Accrual Basis As of May 31, 2025

Page 2



May 31, 25 Apr 30, 25

ASSETS
Current Assets

Checking/Savings
IDF- Cash Sweep 2,676,648.67 2,667,194.82
IDF- Checking-3112 17,976.18 23,071.51
IDF- Money Market-4931 250,710.92 250,710.24

Total Checking/Savings 2,945,335.77 2,940,976.57

Accounts Receivable
Accounts Receivable 443,965.28 451,637.74

Total Accounts Receivable 443,965.28 451,637.74

Other Current Assets
Prepaid Items 663,798.98 663,798.98
Sales Tax Receivable 27,312.28 27,312.28
Delinquent Taxes Receivable 32,000.00 32,000.00
Taxes Receivable, Net 1,491,956.71 1,491,956.71

Total Other Current Assets 2,215,067.97 2,215,067.97

Total Current Assets 5,604,369.02 5,607,682.28

TOTAL ASSETS 5,604,369.02 5,607,682.28

LIABILITIES & EQUITY
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Other Current Liabilities

A/P (Audit) 3,494.00 3,494.00
Unavailable Property Taxes 1,515,092.19 1,515,092.19

Total Other Current Liabilities 1,518,586.19 1,518,586.19

Total Current Liabilities 1,518,586.19 1,518,586.19

Total Liabilities 1,518,586.19 1,518,586.19

Equity
Sinking Fund 1,498,172.00 1,498,172.00
Fund Balances 1,005,691.02 1,005,691.02
Net Income 1,581,919.81 1,585,233.07

Total Equity 4,085,782.83 4,089,096.09

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 5,604,369.02 5,607,682.28

11:13 AM McCall Memorial Hospital District

06/03/25 Balance Sheet
Accrual Basis As of May 31, 2025

Page 1



Oct '24 - May 25 Budget $ Over Budget % of Budget

Ordinary Income/Expense
Income

Forgone Income 57,113.00 57,113.00 0.00 100.0%
Property Tax Income

M & O Fund 100,000.00 100,000.00 0.00 100.0%
Sinking Fund 1,321,397.00 1,321,397.00 0.00 100.0%
Interest and Penalties 11,826.23 6,000.00 5,826.23 197.1%

Total Property Tax Income 1,433,223.23 1,427,397.00 5,826.23 100.4%

Sales Tax 112,848.45 0.00 112,848.45 100.0%
Personal Property Tax Replace 5,196.40 0.00 5,196.40 100.0%
Interest Income 41,426.89 1,440.00 39,986.89 2,876.9%

Total Income 1,649,807.97 1,485,950.00 163,857.97 111.0%

Expense
Remitted to SLHS 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%
Legal Notices 269.80 420.00 -150.20 64.2%
Bank Service Charges 25.00
Office Supplies 1,705.91 225.00 1,480.91 758.2%
Contract Service Fees

Accounting 7,500.00 8,250.00 -750.00 90.9%

Total Contract Service Fees 7,500.00 8,250.00 -750.00 90.9%

General Liability Insurance 0.00 2,341.00 -2,341.00 0.0%
Capital Expenditure

Workforce Housing Project 0.00 1,600,000.00 -1,600,000.00 0.0%
Ambulance Shelter & Living Qtrs 0.00 42,835.00 -42,835.00 0.0%

Total Capital Expenditure 0.00 1,642,835.00 -1,642,835.00 0.0%

Legal Fees 55,674.45 30,000.00 25,674.45 185.6%
Postage and Delivery 73.00 200.00 -127.00 36.5%
Property Tax 2,640.00 6,433.00 -3,793.00 41.0%

Total Expense 67,888.16 1,690,704.00 -1,622,815.84 4.0%

Net Ordinary Income 1,581,919.81 -204,754.00 1,786,673.81 -772.6%

Other Income/Expense
Other Income

Fund Balance Carryover 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Total Other Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Net Other Income 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.0%

Net Income 1,581,919.81 -204,754.00 1,786,673.81 -772.6%

11:00 AM McCall Memorial Hospital District

06/03/25 Profit & Loss Budget vs. Actual
Accrual Basis October 2024 through May 2025

Page 1



 

 

Hospital District Asset Disposal Request 
 

 
Situation: 
The facility recommends disposal of tangible personal property owned by the Hospital District. 
 
Background: 
Item being disposed: 

Description of asset:  Acuson X300 Portable Ultrasound Unit 
 
  Asset tag #:     100000030097 
 
  Model/Serial #:    S311346 
 
Location of the property: 
    _   Hospital 
    Hospital Department:  __________________________________________________ 
  _X_ Clinic 
    Clinic Name:    Meadows Valley Family Medicine – New Meadows_________ 
  ___ Other 
    Other Name/Location:   __________________________________________________ 
 
Reason for disposal: 

___ Trade – newer technology available or needed 
___ Trade – end of life (to include those with high repair costs) 
___ Sell outright – newer technology available or needed 
        Sell outright – end of life 
___ Dispose – end of life (to include those with high repair costs) 
___ Dispose – no longer used 
_X_ Dispose – transfer to another St. Luke’s facility 
___ Lost – cannot locate the asset 
___ Stolen – have proven the item was taken 
 

Assessment: 
Book Value of asset:  $0.00 
 
If applicable 
Trade in Value:    $0.00 
 
If applicable 
Gain/Loss on disposal  $0.00 

 
Recommendation: 
Approve the disposal of the asset listed above and inclusion of any gain or loss from disposal of the asset on the 

annual statement of rents. 

Approval: 
Approved (Y___ N ___) by (McCall ___ Elmore___) Taxing District Board: 

Signature: _______________________________ 

Title: ___________________________________ 

Approval Date: ___________________________ 



 

 

           

Admitted Insurance Indication for Management Liability 

       

     
In accordance with your request, and based upon the information submitted, we are pleased to offer the 
following indication subject to receipt, review and acceptance of the following:  

 
-Written Request to Bind 
  

 

Premium Summary:  
Terms include coverage for:  Non-Profit Directors & Officers 
       

Premium: $2,127.00  

Carrier Fee: $0.00 

Total: $2,127.00 

 
Note:  All policy fees are fully earned. No flat cancellations.  

 
 

Terms and Conditions:  
Prior & Pending Litigation Date: 06/30/2022  
 

 
 
 
  

Date Issued:  5/19/2025 Colleen Schrandt - Assistant Vice President  

 CSchrandt@mdoinsurance.com - (512) 600-2280 x5301 

Michelle Riedel Policy Period:  6/30/2025 - 6/30/2026 
Chris-Leef General Agency, Inc.  (Shawnee Mission, KS) Renewal of:  EPPE684806 
Commission:  12%  Quote Expires:  Lesser of 30 days or current expiration 

RE: McCall Memorial Hospital District   Insurer:  Great American Insurance Co., Admitted  
P.O. Box 1283  Form:  Claims Made  
Mc Call, ID   83638 Minimum Earned Premium:  N/A 

- Completed,signed/dated Administrative Fee Agreement.

To:        FIG Financial Insurance
Attn:    Jason Bergquist

From: Angela  Slach
aslach@chris-leef.com / 913-735-8356

Fee:                              $275.00
$2,402.00

10% Commission

** ADMITTED - NO TAXES - $275 FEE APPLIES
IN ADDITION TO THE PREMIUM -

    SIGNED FEE AGREEMENT IS REQUIRED **



 

 

 

Policy Forms and Endorsements: 
D16100-G (01/09)  Non-Profit Executive Protection and Employment Practices 
D16102 (03/24)   Declarations  
D16323 (02/21)   Idaho Amendatory Endorsement  
D16505 (01/09)   Medical Malpractice Exclusion  
D16548 (01/16)   Sublimit of Coverage For Telephone Consumer Protection Act Claims  
D16712(13) (11/16)  Great American Nonprofit Eagle Endorsement  
D16723 (01/09)   Cost of Defense Subject to the Limit of Liability and Retention  
DTCOV (02/15)   Terrorism Coverage Endorsement Cap on Loss from Certified Acts  
IL7324 (08/12)   Economic and Trade Sanctions Clause 
DTDIS (09/20)    Policyholder Disclosure Offer of Terrorism Coverage  
 
 
 
ALL OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS APPLY PER FORM 

UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED, THIS OFFER IS CONSIDERED VALID FOR 30 DAYS OR UNTIL THE CURRENT POLICY EXPIRES, 
WHICHEVER IS LESS.  THE INSURANCE INDICATION WILL BE TERMINATED AND SUPERSEDED UPON DELIVERY OF A 
REVISED INDICATION, THE FORMAL QUOTATION OR POLICY(IES) ISSUED TO REPLACE IT. 

THIS INDICATION IS ISSUED BASED UPON THE INSURER'S AGREEMENT TO OFFER TERMS AND IS ISSUED BY THE 
UNDERSIGNED WITHOUT ANY LIABILITY WHATSOEVER AS AN INSURER.   THIS INDICATION MAY BE WITHDRAWN OR 
AMENDED BY THE INSURER AT ANY TIME PRIOR TO BINDING.   

All insurance is negotiated by and placed through McGowan & Company, Inc. 

 
 

 



$275

Mccall Memorial Hospital District



6.17.25

Fiscal Year 2026 Funding Request
McCall Memorial Hospital District



Proposed 
FY26 
Levy

$1.5M

•M&O
•~$125,000

•Sinking Fund
•~$1,375,000
•Workforce 

Housing



3

Proposed for FY26

Legal Notices 750
Legal Services 100,000
Bank Service Charges 200
Insurance 2,402
Property Tax 3,000
Office Supplies

Cell Phone 750
Website 2,000
Other supplies 50
P.O. Box 200
Postage 200

Contract Service Fees
Accounting  (annual audit) 5,500
Lamm CPA 3,000

Public Information Campaign Costs 25,000

Grand Totals: 118,052

Draft M&O Budget



 
WARRANTY DEED - 1        sjm 6-9-2025  
4929-8902-8673.v3 

  

 

 

                                                                                                                                                           

 

 

SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED 

 

FOR GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION RECEIVED, the  ST. LUKE’S 

MCCALL FOUNDATION, INC., an Idaho nonprofit corporation (the “Grantor”) whose 

current address is 1000 State Street, McCall, Idaho 83638, does hereby by these presents transfer, 

convey and demise to the MCCALL MEMORIAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT, a duly organized 

Idaho Hospital District (the “Grantee”), whose current address is 1000 State Street, McCall, ID 

83638, and its successors and assigns forever, an undivided fifty percent (50%) interest in that 

certain parcel of property located in McCall, Valley County, Idaho which is described in the 

attached Exhibit A (the “Property”). 

Together with all and singular the tenements, appurtenances and hereditaments thereunto 

belonging or in any way appertaining to the Property and all of Grantor’s estate, title and interest 

in and to the said undivided fifty percent (50%) interest in the Property, except as otherwise 

reserved herein.  

Grantor makes no covenants or warranties with respect to title, express or implied, other 

than that previous to the date of this instrument Grantor has not conveyed the Property, or any 

portion thereof or interest therein, to any person other than Grantee and that such Property is at the 

time of the execution of this instrument free from encumbrances done, made or suffered by the 

Grantor, or any person claiming under Grantor, subject to any and all easements, restrictions, 

agreements and encumbrances of record or appearing on the land as of the date of this instrument, 

and the following reversionary rights, interests, and encumbrances in favor of Grantor and Grantee:  

 

1. The Use of the Property. Grantor and Grantee shall cause to be constructed and 

completed multi-family housing units on the Property solely designated for the primary 

use of healthcare workforce housing or participation in the McCall Local Housing 

Program (“Workforce Housing”), together with common area, open space, pedestrian 

pathways connecting to the City of McCall’s Railroad Pathway and adjoining park area 

dedicated to the use of the public, collectively, the “Improvements.” 

2. The Restrictive Covenant. The use of the Property and Improvements for Workforce 

Housing as herein described shall be maintained in perpetuity, unless a proposed 

change in use is initiated by the Grantor’s Board of Directors and shall have first 

obtained the approval of the McCall Memorial Hospital District. This covenant shall 

be binding on all successors in interest of the Grantor or Grantee, including but not 

limited to persons who obtain an interest in the Property by lease, by conveyance, or 

by operation of law. 

3. Right of Reversion. Grantor and Grantee agree that in the event of the formal 

dissolution of the McCall Memorial Hospital District (“District”), the District’s 

interest in the Property and Improvements shall revert to Grantor,  PROVIDED, that, 



 
WARRANTY DEED - 2        sjm 6-9-2025  
4929-8902-8673.v3 

thereafter, any modification of the Restrictive Covenant shall require the prior written 

approval of the Board of County Commissioners of Valley County.  

 

(signatures and acknowledgements on following pages)  

 

 

 

 

 

  



 
WARRANTY DEED - 3        sjm 6-9-2025  
4929-8902-8673.v3 

ST. LUKE’S MCCALL FOUNDATION, INC. 

By: ______________________________  Dated: __________________, 2025 

       William Colpo, President 

 

 

 

STATE OF IDAHO, ) 

(ss. 

County of Valley. ) 

 

 

On this ___ day of ________________, 2025, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and 

for said State, personally appeared William Colpo, known or identified to me to be the President 

of the corporation that executed the instrument or the person who executed the instrument on 

behalf of said corporation, and acknowledged to me that such corporation executed the same. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal, the day and 

year in this certificate first above written. 

 

       

NOTARY PUBLIC FOR IDAHO 

My Commission Expires:    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
WARRANTY DEED - 4        sjm 6-9-2025  
4929-8902-8673.v3 

 

 

 

 

MCCALL MEMORIAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT 

 

By: ______________________________  Dated: __________________, 2025 

       ANDREW LAIDLAW, Board Chair 

 

 

 

 

 

STATE OF IDAHO ) 

 (ss. 

County of Valley ) 

 

 

On this ________ day of _______________, 2025 before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in 

and for said state, personally appeared ANDREW LAIDLAW, the Board Chair of the McCall 

Memorial Hospital District, known or identified to me to be the person who executed the foregoing 

instrument and acknowledged to me that he executed the same on behalf of the McCall Memorial 

Hospital District, and was authorized to do so. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and 

year in this certificate first above written. 

      

             

      Notary Public for Idaho 

My Commission Expires: _______________ 



EXHIBIT A 

 



 

02155.0286.4921-6217-7612.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

________________________________ 

LEASE AGREEMENT 

________________________________ 

 

 

between 

 

 

IDAHO HEALTH FACILITIES AUTHORITY, 

 

and  

 

MCCALL MEMORIAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

June ___, 2025 

 



LEASE AGREEMENT - 1 jrm 6-11-25 

 02155.0286.4921-6217-7612.2 

LEASE AGREEMENT 

This LEASE AGREEMENT is entered into effective June ___, 2025 (the “Effective 

Date”), between the IDAHO HEALTH FACILITIES AUTHORITY, an independent public body 

politic and corporate constituting a public instrumentality of the State of Idaho, and MCCALL 

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT, a duly constituted hospital district pursuant to the 

provisions of Chapter 13, Title 39, Idaho Code, as amended (the “District” or “Lessor”). Jointly 

the Authority and District may be referred to herein as the “Parties”. 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the Idaho Health Facilities Authority (the “Authority” or “Lessee”) is 

authorized by Sections 39-1441 et seq. of the Idaho Code, as amended (the “Act”), to acquire, 

construct, reconstruct, renovate, improve, replace, maintain, repair, operate, lease as lessee or 

lessor and regulate one or more “health facilities” (as defined in the Act); and 

WHEREAS, the Act further authorizes the Authority to lease health facilities for such 

periods and upon such terms or conditions as shall be determined by the Authority for the purposes 

of financing or refinancing the costs of or facilitating the construction and management of any 

health facility; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority is not authorized by statute to operate health facilities as a 

business, and will need to enter into a management or lease agreement with a third party to manage 

and lease the Project (as defined below). 

WHEREAS, the District is authorized pursuant to Sections 39-1331, 39-1339 and 39-1358, 

Idaho Code, as amended, to enter into a lease of real or personal property as lessor or lessee with 

the Authority; and 

WHEREAS, the District owns an undivided 50% interest in certain property which is 

described in Exhibit A (the “Land”); and 

WHEREAS, the St. Lukes McCall Foundation, Inc. (the “Foundation”) owns the other 

undivided 50% interest in the Land; and 

WHEREAS, the District, in cooperation with the Foundation, desires to construct 

workforce housing for McCall area nurses, doctors and other healthcare workers on the Land, as 

further defined below (the “Project”); and  

WHEREAS, the District, with the consent of the Foundation, desires to enter into this Lease 

Agreement (the “Lease Agreement”) to (i) secure the assistance and expertise of the Authority in 

the construction and management of the Project and, potentially, (ii) finance the costs of the 

construction and improvement of some or all of the Project; and 



 

LEASE AGREEMENT - 2  jrm 6-11-25  

 02155.0286.4921-6217-7612.2 

WHEREAS, the Authority also anticipates entering into a similar lease agreement with the 

Foundation;  

WHEREAS, the Foundation and the District anticipate entering into a Joint Tenancy 

Agreement setting forth their plans for the Land and the Project, including the involvement of the 

Authority;  

WHEREAS, the District has contributed, and may elect to contribute additional, available 

funds to pay a portion of the costs of the Project; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants 

hereinafter contained, the parties hereto formally covenant, agree and bind themselves as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

Definitions 

Section 101.  The following terms, except where the context indicates otherwise, shall have 

the respective meanings set forth below. 

“Act” means the Idaho Health Facilities Authority Act, constituting Sections 

39-1441 et seq. of the Idaho Code, as amended. 

“Annual Planning Service Fee” means the annual fee required to be paid by the 

District to the Authority pursuant to Section 404 hereof. 

“Authority” means the Idaho Health Facilities Authority and its successors or 

assigns. 

“Authorized Representative”  means, in the case of the Authority, the Executive 

Director or the Associate Executive Director thereof, in the case of the District, the Chairman of 

the Board of Trustees of the District, and when used with reference to the performance of any act, 

the discharge of any duty or the execution of any certificate or other document, any officer, 

employee or other person authorized to perform such act, discharge such duty or execute such 

certificate or other document. 

“Consent” means the acknowledgment and consent granted by the Foundation to 

the District, authorizing its co-tenant District to enter into the Lease Agreement. 

“District” means the McCall Memorial Hospital District, duly constituting a 

hospital district pursuant to Chapter 13, Title 39, Idaho Code, as amended. 

“Foundation” means the St. Luke’s McCall Foundation, Inc., an Idaho non-profit 

corporation, owner of an undivided 50% interest in and to the Property. 

“Environmental Law” means any federal, state or local environmental statute, 

regulation, or ordinance presently in effect or that may be promulgated in the future as such 

statutes, regulations and ordinances may be amended from time to time, including but not limited 

to the statutes listed below: 

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, 42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq. 



 

LEASE AGREEMENT - 3  jrm 6-11-25  

 02155.0286.4921-6217-7612.2 

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 

1980, 42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq. 

Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq. 

Federal Water Pollution Control Act (Clean Water Act of 1977), 33 U.S.C. § 1251 

et seq. 

Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act (Federal Pesticide Act of 

1978), 7 U.S.C. § 136 et seq. 

Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq. 

Safe Drinking Water Act, 42 U.S.C. § 300f et seq. 

“Hazardous Substances” means any substance or material defined or designated as 

hazardous or toxic waste, hazardous or toxic material, a hazardous, toxic or radioactive substance, 

or other similar term, by any Environmental Law. 

“Improvements” means the Units which are constructed on the Property and the 

associated site infrastructure. 

“Initial Planning Service Fee” means the initial fee of the Authority in the amount 

of [$_________], required to be paid by the District to the Authority upon the execution of this 

Lease Agreement, or as provided in Section 404. 

“Land” means the real property described in Exhibit A and all associated 

appurtenances and easements, together with all additions to and substitutions for, the Land, less 

such real estate, interests in real estate and other rights relating to the Land released pursuant to 

Section 701 hereof. 

“Lease Agreement” means this Lease Agreement between the Authority and the 

District and any amendments and supplements hereto.  

“Lease Term” means the period beginning on the Effective Date of this Lease 

Agreement and ending May 31, 2035, subject to the renewal provisions below.  

“Project” means the following: 

a. Description of Project. The Project consists of thirty-eight (38) two and 

three bedroom townhomes (the “Units”). All of the thirty-eight (38) Units in the Project will be 

workforce housing units for rent to St. Luke’s McCall healthcare workers (i.e. employees or 

independent contract worker). All Units will meet the McCall City Code requirements for “Local 

Housing Units” under the City’s Local Housing Program. Unit rents will be structured such that 

eligible tenants will pay no more than 30% of their household income to support housing expenses 

(including rent and utilities). To the extent that there is not a healthcare worker ready and willing 

to rent a vacant Unit, then the Unit may be rented to a non-healthcare worker who meets the 

required profile under the City of McCall’s Local Housing Program.  The Project, however, is 

intended to qualify as a health facility under the Act. Short-term rentals, as defined in the McCall 



 

LEASE AGREEMENT - 4  jrm 6-11-25  

 02155.0286.4921-6217-7612.2 

City Code, as amended, will not be allowed. The Project will be constructed in Phases, as funds 

become available from the District and/or the Foundation or financing which the District and/or 

Foundation may in the future elect to pursue through the Authority.  

b. “Property” means the Land and the Improvements.  

ARTICLE II 

Representations 

Section 201.  The Authority. The Authority represents that the Authority is an independent 

public body politic and corporate constituting a public instrumentality of the State of Idaho, is duly 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Idaho, is authorized pursuant to the Act to 

enter into the transactions contemplated by this Lease Agreement and to carry out its obligations 

hereunder, and has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Lease Agreement. 

Section 202.  The District. The District represents that: 

(a) The District is a hospital district organized and existing under the laws of 

the State of Idaho and has power to enter into this Lease Agreement and by proper action by its 

Board has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Lease Agreement. 

(b) Neither the execution and delivery of this Lease Agreement, the 

consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, nor the fulfillment of or compliance with 

the terms and conditions of this Lease Agreement, conflicts with or results in a breach of any of 

the terms, conditions or provisions of any restriction or any agreement or instrument to which the 

District is now a Party or by which it is bound or constitutes a default under any of the foregoing. 

(c) The District has good and marketable title to an undivided 50% interest in 

the Land, in fee simple absolute, free and clear of all liens and encumbrances, except Permitted 

Encumbrances. 

(d) The Foundation, by execution of the Consent, attached hereto as Exhibit 

“B” hereby ratifies and consents to the District executing the Lease Agreement and granting the 

Authority the leasehold interest in the Property described herein. 

(e) Neither the District nor, to the best knowledge of the District, any other 

person has stored, disposed or released in, on or about the land any Hazardous Substances the 

removal or remediation of which is or could be required, or the maintenance of which is prohibited 

or penalized, by any applicable Environmental Laws, and the Land is free from all such Hazardous 

Substances; and (ii) the District has not made any promises of indemnification to any party 

regarding Hazardous Substances which may be located on the Land. 

        ARTICLE III 

Demising Clause, Term and Termination, Rent 

Section 301.  Lease of Property. The District hereby demises and leases the Property to the 

Authority and the Authority hereby leases the Property from the District.  

Section 302. Term. The Term of this lease shall commence on the Effective Date of this 

Lease Agreement and shall end at midnight on May 31, 2035, provided, unless terminated by either 



 

LEASE AGREEMENT - 5  jrm 6-11-25  

 02155.0286.4921-6217-7612.2 

of the Parties by written notice of termination delivered to the other Party, the Term shall be 

automatically extended for successive ten (10) year Terms (not to exceed a total of 98 years). 

Section 303. Termination.  This Lease may be terminated without cause by either Party as 

follows: 

(a) The District, subject to the consent of Foundation, may terminate this Lease, 

with or without cause, by providing the Authority with a written Notice of Termination not less 

than 180 days prior to the date of termination. 

(b) The Authority may terminate this Lease by providing the District with a 

Written Notice of Termination not less than 360 days prior to the date of termination.  

(c)  The Authority agrees that upon the termination of this Lease Agreement it 

will surrender the Property to the District free and clear of all liens and encumbrances, other than 

Permitted Encumbrances and encumbrances created as a result of an act or failure to act by the 

District. 

Section 304. Rent.  In recognition of the fact that the services to be provided by the 

Authority are essential to the success of the Project and the District will retain the control over and 

right of use of the Property, the Authority will not pay the District monetary compensation for the 

Lease.  

ARTICLE IV 

Scope of Leasehold Interest, Purpose of Lease, Fees 

Section 401. Scope and Purpose. Subject to the District’s direction and approval, and 

such further agreements or amendments of this Lease Agreement as may be entered into by the 

Parties, the services which the Authority may provide to the District and activities in which the 

Authority may engage shall include, by way of example and not limitation, the following: 

a) Facilitating and/or entering into contracts for the development and 

construction of the Project, including provisions for insurance, surety bonds, and similar standard 

construction requirements; 

b) Facilitating and/or entering into contracts for the management of the 

Property and the Units, including but not limited to the subleasing of the Units to eligible tenants; 

c) Providing a mechanism for the management and disbursement of funds 

provided by the District and Foundation for the development and construction of the Project and 

income derived from the subleasing of the Units and from the City’s Local Housing payments;  

d) Providing financing for completion of the Project in the event that the 

District and/or Foundation elect to pursue such financing; and/or 

e) Such other and additional functions and services as the District and IHFA 

determine will further the goals and purposes of the District related to the Project.  

Section 402. Authority of District.  It is understood and agreed that the District, subject 

to the consent of the Foundation, shall retain the ultimate control over and must approve any 



 

LEASE AGREEMENT - 6  jrm 6-11-25  

 02155.0286.4921-6217-7612.2 

contracts, subleases, licenses, or other agreements into which the Authority proposes to enter in 

furtherance or fulfillment of its above-stated services and activities.  

Section 403. Collaboration, Additional Agreements. The District and Authority shall 

confer regularly with each other and the Foundation regarding the Project and the Authority’s 

aforesaid services and activities and shall, as mutually deemed necessary and appropriate, amend 

this Lease Agreement or enter into supplemental agreements, subject to the consent of the 

Foundation, to further the District’s and Authority’s mutual goal of completing the Project.  

Section 404. IHFA Fees. Prior to the Effective Date, Authority will provide to the District 

for District approval a schedule of any fees, including the Annual Planning Service Fee and the 

Initial Planning Service Fee which Authority intends to charge for its services. The final execution 

of this Lease is contingent on the District and the Authority reaching agreement on any such fees. 

Should the Authority and District agree, the Effective Date may occur prior to final agreement of 

the parties regarding the amount of any such fees. 

Section 405. Taxes, Insurance and Maintenance. The District will promptly pay all taxes 

and government charges relating to or stemming from the District’s interest in the Property when 

due. The District and the Foundation shall, at their own expense or through a property management 

entity, maintain the Property. The District will insure its interest in the Property in a commercially 

reasonable manner. These commitments of the District shall be subject to all statutory and 

constitutional constraints on the District’s legal ability to commit funds beyond those available in 

its current budget year; and, neither this Section nor any other Section of this Lease shall be 

interpreted as a commitment or covenant by the District which is inconsistent with such 

constraints.  

Section 406. Nonsectarian Use. The District agrees that no part of the Property shall be 

used primarily for sectarian instruction or study or primarily as a place for devotional activities or 

religious worship if such use would violate the First Amendment of the United States Constitution 

or Article I, Section 4 or Article 21, Section 19 of the Idaho Constitution , or any other provisions 

of federal or state law. 

ARTICLE V 

Covenants of Authority 

Section 501.  Limitation on Use.  The Authority covenants that it shall use or permit the 

use of the Property only for the purposes contemplated in this Lease Agreement and pursuant to 

collaboration with and the ultimate direction of the District, subject to the consent of the 

Foundation. 

Section 502.  District Access. The Authority agrees that the District shall have free, 

unlimited and unrestricted access, ingress and egress into and about the Land. 

ARTICLE VI 

Amendment of Lease Agreement 



 

LEASE AGREEMENT - 7  jrm 6-11-25  

 02155.0286.4921-6217-7612.2 

Section 601.  This Lease Agreement may be amended only by means of a written 

amendment executed by the Parties subsequent to the Effective Date, with appropriate 

authorization from their Boards and the consent of the Foundation.  

ARTICLE VII 

Right to Assign and Sublet 

Section 701.  Except as may be provided otherwise in the Lease Agreement, the Authority 

shall have the right to sublet Units to eligible tenants, or to a third party to facilitate subletting to 

eligible tenants, and to assign this Lease Agreement, pursuant to a process and agreements to be 

approved by the District and the Authority, subject to the consent of the Foundation.  

ARTICLE VIII 

Default 

Section 801.  Definition. The occurrence of the following shall constitute a default and 

breach of this Agreement. Any failure by a Party to observe and perform any of the provisions or 

covenants of this Agreement to be performed by such Party within thirty (30) days after written 

notice by the Party alleging the default specifying such alleged failure.  Provided, however, that, 

if the nature of the default is such that the same cannot reasonably be cured within said thirty (30) 

day period, the Party shall not be deemed to be in default if it shall, within such period, commence 

such cure and thereafter diligently prosecute the same to completion 

Section 802. Default Remedies.  In the event of an uncured default, as defined above, the 

non-defaulting Party shall be entitled to exercise any and all remedies provided at law or in equity, 

including but not limited to injunctive relief, specific performance and all remedies available under 

Idaho law for a breach of contract cause of action. 

Section 803. Mediation.  In the event of an uncured default, as defined above, it shall be 

a required prerequisite to the initiation by either Party of judicial action to engage in Mediation 

conducted by a mutually acceptable Mediator. If the Parties are unable to agree on a Mediator, 

then the Parties shall engage in mediation with a mediator selected by the District Court of the 

Fourth Judicial District of the State of Idaho, in and for the County of Valley. The Mediation shall 

continue until the Mediator declares that continuation of the mediation has no reasonable prospect 

of leading to a resolution of the dispute. The costs of the mediation shall be divided equally 

between the Parties. 

ARTICLE IX 

Miscellaneous 

Section 901.  Release, Hold Harmless.  To the extent permitted by law, the District releases 

the Authority and indemnifies and holds harmless the Authority, its officers, members, employees 

or agents from liability for any and all losses, injuries, claims or damages to persons or property, 

demands and expenses, including legal expenses, of whatsoever kind and nature and by 

whomsoever made, arising during the existence of this Lease Agreement.  It is expressly 

understood and agreed that any covenant, undertaking or agreement of the Authority expressed or 

implied by this Lease Agreement shall bind only the Land, and that no liability or responsibility is 



 

LEASE AGREEMENT - 8  jrm 6-11-25  

 02155.0286.4921-6217-7612.2 

assumed by, nor shall at any time be enforceable against, the Authority, all such liability, if any, 

being waived as to the Authority.  

Section 902.  Partial Invalidity.  In the event any provision of this Lease Agreement shall 

be held invalid or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not 

invalidate or render unenforceable any other provision hereof. 

Section 903.  Notices.  All notices, certificates or other communications hereunder shall be 

sufficiently given and shall be deemed given when mailed by registered mail, postage prepaid, 

addressed as follows:   

If to the Authority: 

PO Box 8867 Boise, Idaho 83707 

Attention:  Executive Director 

 

If to the District: 

1000 State Street, McCall, ID 83638 

Attention:  Board Chairman 

 

With a Copy to the Foundation: 

1000 State Street, McCall, ID 83638 

Attention: Executive Director 

 

The Authority and the District may, by notice hereunder, designate any further or different 

addresses to which future notices, certificates or other communications shall be sent. Any Party 

sending a notice of default shall attempt to communicate it by telephone to the other parties at the 

same time or prior to mailing written notice. 

Section 904.  Counterparts. This Lease Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, 

each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 

Section 905.  Pecuniary Liability. No provision, covenant or agreement contained in this 

Lease Agreement or breach thereof shall constitute or give rise to a pecuniary liability of the 

Authority or a charge upon its general credit.  In making such covenants, agreements or provisions, 

the Authority has not obligated itself, except with respect to the Property and the application of 

the revenues therefrom, as provided in this Lease Agreement. 

Section 906.  Applicable Law. This Lease Agreement shall be governed and construed in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Idaho. 

Section 907.  Recordation. This Lease Agreement and every assignment and modification 

hereof or an appropriate and sufficient memorandum thereof shall be recorded in the office of the 

County Clerk and Recorder of the County of Valley, Idaho.   

Section 908. Liens, Encumbrances. There shall be no liens allowed to be placed on, nor 

any secured interests (i.e. deeds of trust, mortgages, or other security interests) granted in, the 

Property or any Lot or Unit except by written agreement of the Parties and in strict compliance 

with Idaho statutes and constitutional provisions.  



 

LEASE AGREEMENT - 9  jrm 6-11-25  

 02155.0286.4921-6217-7612.2 

Section 909.  Succession. This Agreement binds and inures to the benefit of the Parties 

hereto, as well as their successors and assigns, including entities gaining ownership or control of 

the District’s assets in the case of dissolution of the District.   

Section 910.  Attorney’s Fees and Costs. In the event that any judicial action arises 

regarding the legal consequence, interpretation, application, default or enforcement of this 

Agreement, then the prevailing party in such dispute shall be entitled to recover its reasonable 

attorney’s fees and costs incurred, including reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred on 

appeal. 

 

[The following page is the signature page.] 



 

LEASE AGREEMENT – Signature Page  

 Sjm 2025-6-11  

02155.0286.4921-6217-7612.2 

MCCALL MEMORIAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT 

By: ______________________________  Dated: __________________ 

   Andrew Laidlaw, Board Chair 

 

 

 

STATE OF IDAHO ) 

 (ss. 

County of Valley ) 

 On this ________ day of _______________, 2025, before me, the undersigned, a Notary 

Public in and for said state, personally appeared Andrew Laidlaw, the Board Chair of the McCall 

Memorial Hospital District, known or identified to me to be the person who executed the foregoing 

instrument and acknowledged to me that he executed the same on behalf of the McCall Memorial 

Hospital District, and was authorized to do so. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the 

day and year in this certificate first above written. 

              

       Notary Public for Idaho 

 My Commission Expires:    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

LEASE AGREEMENT – Signature Page  

 Sjm 2025-6-11  

02155.0286.4921-6217-7612.2 

IDAHO HEALTH FACILITIES AUTHORITY 

 

 

 

By: _______________________________ 

Printed Name: ______________________ 

Its: _______________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

STATE OF IDAHO ) 

 ) ss. 

County of Ada ) 

On this ___ day of June, 2025, before me, a Notary Public in and for said state, personally 

appeared __________________________________________, known or identified to me to be the 

__________________________________________________, of the IDAHO HEALTH 

FACILITIES AUTHORITY (the “Authority”) and the person(s) who executed the above 

instrument on behalf of the Authority, and acknowledged to me that such Authority executed the 

same. 

  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the 

day and year in this certificate first above written. 

              

       Notary Public for _____________________ 

 My Commission Expires:    



 

LEASE AGREEMENT – Exhibit A   

02155.0286.4921-6217-7612.2 
 

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 

 



 

LEASE AGREEMENT – Exhibit B   jrm 6-11-2025 

redline  

02155.0286.4921-6217-7612.2 
 

EXHIBIT B 

CONSENT TO LEASE AGREEMENT 

WHEREAS, St. Luke’s McCall Foundation, Inc., an Idaho non-profit corporation 

(“Foundation”) transferred, by Warranty Deed, to McCall Memorial Hospital District, a duly 

organized Idaho Hospital District (“District”) an undivided 50% interest in real property described 

in the Warranty Deed recorded as Instrument No. ______________ on June __, 2025 (the 

“Warranty Deed”); and 

WHEREAS, the District as owner of an undivided interest in the Property has no power to 

lease the entire Property or a specific portion of the Property without the consent of the Foundation;  

WHEREAS, District desires to lease a portion of the Property to the Idaho Health Facilities 

Authority, an independent public body politic and corporate constituting a public instrumentality 

of the State of Idaho (the “Authority”) consistent with the purposes and restrictions listed in the 

Warranty Deed. 

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, including the continued 

reversionary rights of the Foundation as stated in the Warranty Deed, the Foundation does hereby 

declare its consent to the District’s lease of its 50% undivided interest to the Authority as described 

in the Lease Agreement between the District and Authority. 

 This Consent to Lease Agreement is subject to the restrictions and limitations described in 

the Warranty Deed.  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Consent to Lease Agreement 

as of this __ day of June, 2025. 

      FOUNDATION:  

      ST. LUKE’S MCCALL FOUNDATION, INC., 

      an Idaho nonprofit corporation 

 

 

      By:      __________________________ 

       William Colpo 

       President 

 



 

JOINT TENANCY AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is entered into effective the date of the last signature below (the 
“Effective Date”) by and between ST. LUKE’S MCCALL FOUNDATION, INC., an Idaho 
nonprofit corporation (the “Foundation”) whose current address is 1000 State Street, McCall, 
Idaho 83638, and the MCCALL MEMORIAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT, a duly organized Idaho 
Hospital District (the “District”), whose current address is 1000 State Street, McCall, ID 83638 
The Foundation and the District are jointly referred to herein as the “Parties”.  

RECITALS 
The Foundation and the District are co-owners of certain real property which is legally 

described in the attached Exhibit A (the “Property”).  The Foundation purchased the Property 
from the McCall-Donnelly School District on February 1, 2024.  

The Foundation and the District share a common goal of providing affordable housing for 
the local healthcare workforce (the “Project”), recognizing through cooperation that the Parties 
can more fully and effectively provide more healthcare workforce housing than the Foundation or 
District could provide separately. 

The Foundation and District entered into a Memorandum of Understanding on December 
4, 2023, regarding the Property and the construction and management of the healthcare workforce 
housing thereupon, (the “MOU”), which is attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

The Foundation and District entered into an Option Agreement on May 29, 2024 (the 
“Option”), which is attached hereto as Exhibit C, whereby the Foundation granted the District 
the option to acquire a 50% interest in the Property. 

The term of the Option was extended to June 30, 2025, by means of that certain First 
Amendment to Option Agreement which is attached hereto as Exhibit D.  

The Option was exercised by the District pursuant to the terms of the Option, as amended, 
on June ___, 2025. 

The Foundation transferred to the District a 50% undivided interest in the Property by 
means of that certain Special Warranty Deed which is attached hereto as Exhibit E (the “Special 
Warranty Deed”). The Parties desire to provide for the orderly administration of their rights and 
responsibilities to each other and to others and to delegate authority and responsibility for the 
intended management of the Property and the development and construction management of the 
Project.  The Parties will continue to collaborate and cooperate in good faith in executing such 
Amendments to this Agreement as are mutually deemed necessary and appropriate over the 
passage of time.  

AGREEMENT 
NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, 

and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
JOINT TENANCY AGREEMENT - 1     sjm 6-9-2025  
4904-8118-1247.v2 



JOINT TENANCY AGREEMENT - 2     sjm 6-9-2025  
4904-8118-1247.v2 

acknowledged by the Parties’ signatures below, the Parties agree as follows:  
1. The Parties’ Ownership Interests in the Property. 

a. Nature of Relationship Between Parties. The Parties hereby acknowledge 
and agree that it is their intention to be, and to act as, joint tenants with respect to the Property. 
Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to create a partnership, joint venture, agency, 
or similar arrangement between the Parties or any other business entity in which the Parties are 
equity owners, and no Parties shall have the right or power to pledge the credit or otherwise bind 
the other Party except as expressly set forth herein. Parties hereby represent and warrant to, and 
covenant with one another, that they have not, are not, and, except as expressly set forth in Sections 
1.b. or 1.e.(i) herein, will not otherwise directly or indirectly act as partners or members of a 
common business entity or otherwise give the appearance to the general public that they were, are, 
or will be partners or members of a common business entity. 

b. Initial Ownership Interests. The Foundation and District are each owners of 
undivided 50% ownership interests in the Property. These interests, as they may be adjusted 
pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, are referred to herein as the “Ownership Interests”. By 
agreement of the Parties, and provided that doing so is compliant with applicable Idaho 
constitutional and statutory provisions, the Parties’ Ownership Interests may be converted to 
ownership in a joint entity in which ownership of the Property is vested.  

c. Intention Regarding Ownership Interests. The Parties intend that their 
Ownership Interests shall reflect their actual investments in and expenditures on the Property and 
the Project (the “Investments”), including by way of example and not limitation: (i) the cost of 
acquisition of the Property, (ii) the cost of obtaining the land use entitlements for the Project, (iii) 
the cost of engaging the Idaho Health Facilities Authority (“IHFA”) to assist with the development, 
management and, potentially, financing of the Project,  (iv) the cost of design and construction of 
the Project and its infrastructure, (v) the cost of management and upkeep of the Property and the 
Project, (vi) the insurance premiums for the Property, (vii) the professional fees associated in 
connection with the above, and (viii) all other costs not enumerated above which relate to or stem 
from the ownership of the Property and/or development of the Project. As of the Effective Date, 
the Parties agree that their respective Investments are equal. Subject to available funding, it is the 
intention of the Parties that their Investments continue to be equal throughout the development of 
the Project.  

d. Acknowledgement of Uncertainty Regarding Prospective Investments: The 
Parties acknowledge the following: 

i. The District is a Taxing District which, by law (specifically 
including but not limited to Article VIII, Section 3 of the Idaho Constitution), cannot commit funds 
to the Project or the Property beyond funds on hand and funds which will be available within the 
fiscal year in which they are committed. As such, the Foundation acknowledges that the District 
has made no promises nor contractual commitments to make property tax levies for or provide 
funds for the Project beyond funds on hand and funds which will be available within the current 
fiscal year. No provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed or interpreted to create any District  
indebtedness or liability of any kind or in any manner exceeding in any given year the income and 
revenue provided to the District for such year.  

ii. The Foundation is wholly dependent on charitable donations to 
create funds to expend on the Project, beyond its current funds on hand. The District acknowledges 



JOINT TENANCY AGREEMENT - 3     sjm 6-9-2025  
4904-8118-1247.v2 

that the Foundation cannot and has not made any promises or contractual commitments to provide 
a specified amount of funds for the Project.  

iii. The Project, or individual Units (as defined below) will be 
constructed as funds become available. 

e. Periodic Reconciliation of Ownership Interests. Periodically, but not less 
than annually, commencing on or before June 1, 2026, the Parties shall review, disclose and 
confirm their Investments, both cumulatively and for the prior year. In the event that there is more 
than a five per cent (5%) discrepancy between the Parties’ respective cumulative Investments, then 
the Parties shall reconcile their respective Ownership Interests pro rata according to their 
respective cumulative Investments, unless the Parties concur that doing so is unnecessary or 
inappropriate. Such reconciliation shall be effected in such manner as is mutually agreed upon by 
the Parties and compliant with applicable Idaho statutes and constitutional provisions. The manner 
of reconciliation may, by way of example and not limitation, include any of the following: 

i. The formation of a joint entity which owns the Property and in 
which entity the Parties’ respective interests are adjusted according to their pro rata Investments; 

ii. Agreements and conveyances between the Parties and the IHFA, in 
form and substance mutually agreeable to the Parties and IHFA; or, 

iii. Conveyances between the Parties. 
f. Conversion to Ownership of Individual Units in the Project. As is described 

in more detail below, the Project consists of up to thirty-eight (38) two and three bedroom 
townhomes (the “Units”) configured in ten (10) buildings. The Units will be placed on lots 
identified and described on Final Subdivision Plats for the Property, in phases (the “Lots”). As 
Final Subdivision Plats are recorded, the Parties shall have the option of assigning fee ownership 
interests of the individual Lots to the Parties, individually, if the Parties determine that doing so 
better facilitates the terms and intents of this Agreement.  

2. The Project.  
a. Description of Project. The Project consists of thirty-eight (38) two and 

three bedroom townhomes Units. The Project is depicted on the Preliminary Site Plan which is 
attached as Exhibit F. All Units in the Project will be workforce housing units for rental to St. 
Luke’s McCall healthcare workers (i.e. employees or independent contract worker). As is 
described in the below-referenced Development Agreement, all Units will meet the McCall City 
Code requirements for “Local Housing Units” under the City’s Local Housing Program. Unit rents 
will be structured such that eligible tenants will pay no more than 30% of their household income 
to support housing expenses (including rent and utilities). To the extent that there is not a 
healthcare worker ready and willing to rent a vacant Unit, then the Unit may be rented to a non-
healthcare worker who meets the required profile under the City of McCall’s  Local Housing 
Program. Short-term rentals, as defined in the McCall City Code, as amended, will not be allowed. 
There shall be no material change in the aforesaid proposed land uses except by the written 
approval of both Parties.  

b. Plans and Approvals.  The Parties agree to develop the Project in accordance 
with and to be bound by the following plans and documents, or such modifications and 
amendments thereof as are mutually acceptable to the Parties and, as necessary, approved by the 
City of McCall (the “City”):  



JOINT TENANCY AGREEMENT - 4     sjm 6-9-2025  
4904-8118-1247.v2 

i. Attachments 1-16 to the APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNED UNIT 
DEVELOPMENT GENERAL PLAN APPROVAL, PRELIMINARY PLAT APPROVAL, 
DESIGN REVIEW, SCENIC ROUTE REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
submitted to the City on November 26, 2024 (the “Applications”); 

ii. The additional information submitted to City Engineer Morgan 
Stroud on December 12, 2024, as specifically identified in that certain e-mail from Steven J. 
Millemann to Morgan Stroud, dated December 12, 2024; 

iii. The McCall City Council’s Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law 
and Decision  for the Project (PUD-24-03, SUB-24-07, DA-24-02), dated ______________, 2025; 

iv. The McCall Joint Planning and Zoning Commission’s Findings of 
Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decision for DR-24-27, SR-24-10, dated February 4, 2025; 

v. The Development Agreement between the Foundation and the City, 
dated ________________, 2025;  

vi. The Development Agreement between the Foundation and the 
Payette Lakes Recreational Sewer and Water District, dated ________________, 2025; 

vii. The Project Application(s) for Building Permit(s), the Building 
Permits themselves issued by the City for the Units and all plans attached thereto; 

viii. All other local, state or federal permits which may be issued for the 
Project and all documents and plans submitted with or in support of such permits;  

ix. The Final Subdivision Plat and Final PUD Development Plan for the 
Project and all plans and documents submitted to the City with or in support of the said Plat and 
Plan; and, 

x. All terms and conditions imposed by the City on the approvals of 
the Final Subdivision Plat and Final PUD Development Plan. 
The aforesaid plans and documents shall be referred to herein as the “Project Plans and 
Approvals”.  

c. Dedication of Units.  As is provided in the Development Agreement for the 
Project, a Restrictive Covenant consistent with the description of the “Local Housing Units’ in 
Section 2.a. above and approved by the McCall City Planner will be recorded against each Unit 
platted in the First Platting Phase of the Project, as defined in the Applications, at or prior to the 
recordation of the Final Plat for the First Platting Phase. If a Building Permit is issued for any Unit 
before a final plat is recorded for the First Platting Phase, then prior to the issuance of the first 
Building Permit for any Unit, the Restrictive Covenant shall be recorded against the entire First 
Platting Phase property. Contingent on the recordation of the aforesaid Restrictive Covenant, the 
sum of $20,000 per Unit shall be paid to the Parties or their ownership entity by the City at the 
time of issuance of the Building Permit for the Unit.  

3. Management of the Property and Project.  
a. Engagement of the Idaho Health Facilities Authority (“IHFA”). IHFA was 

created by the Idaho Health Facilities Authority Act (Idaho Code Section 39-1441 et. seq.)  to 
assist in the development and maintenance of public health, healthcare, hospital and related 
facilities. The Parties will engage IHFA to assist in the development and management of the 
Project, and will enter into leases (“Leases”) for their respective interests in the Property to IHFA. 



JOINT TENANCY AGREEMENT - 5     sjm 6-9-2025  
4904-8118-1247.v2 

The respective Leases will enable IHFA’s involvement without the Parties ceding control of the 
Project. The Parties will collaborate on the terms of the Leases to assure consistency and continuity 
as to IHFA’s involvement, and, to the extent necessary, each Party will provide, subject to this 
Agreement, the necessary consent to the other Party’s Lease with IHFA.  The termination of the 
Leases, or any one of the Leases, shall not cause the termination of this Agreement and this 
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding any such event. In the Parties’ 
discretion, IHFA’s involvement may include, by way of example and not limitation: 

i. Facilitating contracts for site development and construction of the 
Units; 

ii. Facilitating contracts for the management of the Property and the 
Units; 

iii. Providing a mechanism for the management of funds provided by 
the Parties for site development and construction of Units and income derived from the rentals of 
the Units and the City’s Local Housing payments;  

iv.  Providing financing for completion of the Project; and/or 
v.  Such other and additional functions as the Parties and IHFA 

determine will further the goals and purposes of the Project.  
The Parties, except where charged specifically to a Lot owned solely by an individual Party, will 
share in the fees charged by IHFA for its services in proportion to their Ownership Interests. 

b. Decision Making. The Parties have utilized a consensus based decision 
making process in the decisions made prior to the Effective Date regarding the development and 
management of the Property and Project, and the Parties intend to maintain that decision-making 
process going forward. Thus, the agreement of both Parties on all decisions regarding the 
development and management of the Project and the Property, the role, scope of authority, and 
responsibility of IHFA shall be required, except to the extent the Parties provide otherwise in a 
duly executed written  amendment to this Agreement and except for the following: 

i. Each of the Parties shall exercise complete and sole discretion as to 
what amount of funds, if any, are expended on the Property or the Project by that Party. 

ii. In the event that ownership of individual Lots is assigned to and held 
by a Party individually, then the Party owning the Lot shall have the right to direct that funds being 
provided by that Party, net of common Project costs and expenses, be applied to the construction 
of the Unit(s) of its Lot(s). 

iii. In the event that the Parties are unable to reach agreement on a 
decision regarding the development or management of the Project or Property, then the Parties shall 
engage IHFA to assist the Parties in reaching consensus and shall work in good faith with IHFA to 
accomplish consensus. If despite such good faith efforts, consensus cannot be reached, then the 
Property shall be partitioned as provided by Title 6, Chapter 5 of the Idaho Code with the partition 
reflecting each Party’s Investment and Ownership Interest in the Property and Project, to the extent 
reasonably possible. 
The Parties shall establish the mechanics of their decision making process regarding the 
development and management of the Project and the Property. The Parties may elect to utilize a 
Joint Working Group comprised of one or more Board members from the Foundation and District 
and an IHFA representative to make recommendations to the Parties’ respective Boards.  



JOINT TENANCY AGREEMENT - 6     sjm 6-9-2025  
4904-8118-1247.v2 

c. Payment of Expenses. For so long as the Parties’ Ownership Interests in the 
Property, either as owners of undivided interests or owners of individual Lots, remain equal, and 
subject to the limitations placed on the District under the terms of Article VIII, Section 3 of the 
Idaho Constitution and applicable Idaho statutes, all expenses and costs required for the 
development and management of the Property and the Project shall be divided equally between 
the Parties. In the event that the Ownership Interests of the Parties are adjusted as provided in 
Section 1.e. above, then, subject to the same constitutional and statutory limitations as aforesaid, 
the said expenses and costs shall be allocated to the Parties in proportion to their Ownership 
Interests and interest in the individual Lot.  

d. Disposition of Income from the Project. Income derived from the Project 
(i.e. rental income from the Units, revenue, or condemnation awards), net of the payment of 
expenses of management of the Property and Project, shall be paid or credited to the Parties in 
proportion to their Ownership Interests.  

e. Liens, Security Interests.  There shall be no liens or encumbrances allowed 
to be placed on or against, nor any secured interests (i.e. deeds of trust, mortgages, or other security 
interests) granted in, the Property or any Lot or Unit except by written agreement of the Parties 
and in struct compliance with Idaho statutes and constitutional provisions.  

4. Documents. The Parties each agree to perform such act as may be reasonably 
necessary to carry out the terms of this Agreement including executing documents as may be 
required under this Agreement or may be reasonably required to effect the intent of the joint 
tenancy with respect to the Property. 

 
5. Possession. The Parties intend to own and lease the property for the explicit 

purposes stated herein. No Party shall have the right to occupy or use the Property at any time 
during the term of the Leases.  

 
6. Default.  

a.  Definition. The occurrence of the following shall constitute a default and 
breach of this Agreement.: 

i. Any failure by a Party to observe and perform any of the provisions 
or covenants of this Agreement to be performed by such Party within thirty (30) days after written 
notice by the Party alleging the default specifying the alleged failure.  Provided, however, that, if 
the nature of the default is such that the same cannot reasonably be cured within said thirty (30) 
day period, the Party shall not be deemed to be in default if it shall within such period commence 
such cure and thereafter diligently prosecute the same to completion. 

b. Default Remedies.  Subject to the provisions of Section 3.b.(iii), in the event 
of an uncured default, as defined above, the non-defaulting Party shall be entitled to exercise any 
and all remedies provided at law or in equity, including but not limited to injunctive relief, specific 
performance and all remedies available under Idaho law for a breach of contract cause of action. 

c. Mediation.  In the event of an uncured default, as defined above, it shall be 
a required prerequisite to the initiation by either  Party of judicial action to engage in Mediation 
conducted by a mutually acceptable Mediator. If the Parties are unable to agree on a Mediator, 
then the Parties shall engage in mediation with a mediator selected by IHFA. The Mediation shall 
continue until the Mediator declares that continuation of the mediation has no reasonable prospect 



JOINT TENANCY AGREEMENT - 7     sjm 6-9-2025  
4904-8118-1247.v2 

of leading to a resolution of the dispute. The costs of the mediation shall be divided equally 
between the Parties. 

7. Assignment. The rights and obligations of the Parties granted herein may not be 
assigned by either Party, except pursuant to the agreement of the other Party.  

8. Succession. Subject to the covenants and restrictions in the Special Warranty Deed, 
this Agreement binds and inures to the benefit of the Parties hereto, as well as their successors and 
assigns, including entities gaining ownership or control of the District’s assets in the case of 
dissolution of the District.   

9. Attorney’s Fees and Costs. In the event that any judicial action arises regarding 
the legal consequence, interpretation, application, default or enforcement of this Agreement, then 
the prevailing party in such dispute shall be entitled to recover its reasonable attorney’s fees and 
costs incurred, including reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred on appeal. 

10. Modification or Amendment. This Agreement may be modified only by means of 
an executed and acknowledged written document signed by the Parties. 

11. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Idaho. 

13.   Foundation Approval. This Agreement was approved by the Board of Directors 
of the Foundation and the undersigned was authorized to execute this Agreement on behalf of the 
Foundation at a meeting of the Board of Directors held on ___________________, 2025. 

13. District Approval. This Agreement was approved by the Board of Trustees of the 
District and the undersigned was authorized to execute this Agreement on behalf of the District at 
a meeting of the Board of Trustees held on ______________, 2025. 

11.  Preparation of Agreement. The District has retained the law firm of Millemann 
Pemberton & Holm LLP to prepare the initial draft of this Agreement. The Parties acknowledge 
the aforementioned law firm represents only the District in this matter. The Foundation has 
retained the law firm of Parsons Behle & Latimer to advise it in this matter.  The terms of this 
Agreement shall neither be construed in favor of, nor adverse to either party based upon any 
presumption that either party exclusively drafted the Agreement. 

12. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which, 
when taken together, shall be deemed one fully-executed original. 

13. Recordation.  A Notice of Joint Tenancy Agreement, executed by the Parties, shall 
be recorded with the Office of Recorder of Valley County, Idaho.  
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been executed effective as of the date of 
the last signature below. 

 

[SIGNATURES AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ON FOLLOWING PAGES] 

 

 



JOINT TENANCY AGREEMENT - 8     sjm 6-9-2025  
4904-8118-1247.v2 

ST. LUKE’S MCCALL FOUNDATION, INC. 

 
By: ______________________________  Dated: __________________, 2025 
   William Colpo, President 
 
 
STATE OF IDAHO, ) 

(ss. 
County of Valley. ) 
 

On this ___ day of ________________, 2025, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public 
in and for said State, personally appeared William Colpo, known or identified to me to be the 
President of the corporation that executed the instrument or the person who executed the 
instrument on behalf of said corporation, and acknowledged to me that such corporation executed 
the same. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal, the 
day and year in this certificate first above written. 
 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC FOR IDAHO 
My Commission Expires:     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



JOINT TENANCY AGREEMENT - 9     sjm 6-9-2025  
4904-8118-1247.v2 

MCCALL MEMORIAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT 

By: ______________________________  Dated: __________________, 2025 
   ANDREW LAIDLAW, Board Chair 
 
 
 
STATE OF IDAHO ) 
 (ss. 
County of Valley ) 
 On this ________ day of _______________, 2024 before me, the undersigned, a Notary 
Public in and for said state, personally appeared ANDREW LAIDLAW, the Board Chair of the 
McCall Memorial Hospital District, known or identified to me to be the person who executed the 
foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me that he executed the same on behalf of the McCall 
Memorial Hospital District, and was authorized to do so. 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the 
day and year in this certificate first above written. 
              
       Notary Public for Idaho 
       My Commission Expires:    



OPTION AGREEMENT – EXHIBIT A 

EXHIBIT A 

 







































































































 
WARRANTY DEED - 1        sjm 6-9-2025  
4929-8902-8673.v3 

  
 
 
                                                                                                                                                           
 
 

SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED 
 

FOR GOOD AND VALUABLE CONSIDERATION RECEIVED, the  ST. LUKE’S 
MCCALL FOUNDATION, INC., an Idaho nonprofit corporation (the “Grantor”) whose 
current address is 1000 State Street, McCall, Idaho 83638, does hereby by these presents transfer, 
convey and demise to the MCCALL MEMORIAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT, a duly organized 
Idaho Hospital District (the “Grantee”), whose current address is 1000 State Street, McCall, ID 
83638, and its successors and assigns forever, an undivided fifty percent (50%) interest in that 
certain parcel of property located in McCall, Valley County, Idaho which is described in the 
attached Exhibit A (the “Property”). 

Together with all and singular the tenements, appurtenances and hereditaments thereunto 
belonging or in any way appertaining to the Property and all of Grantor’s estate, title and interest 
in and to the said undivided fifty percent (50%) interest in the Property, except as otherwise 
reserved herein.  

Grantor makes no covenants or warranties with respect to title, express or implied, other 
than that previous to the date of this instrument Grantor has not conveyed the Property, or any 
portion thereof or interest therein, to any person other than Grantee and that such Property is at the 
time of the execution of this instrument free from encumbrances done, made or suffered by the 
Grantor, or any person claiming under Grantor, subject to any and all easements, restrictions, 
agreements and encumbrances of record or appearing on the land as of the date of this instrument, 
and the following reversionary rights, interests, and encumbrances in favor of Grantor and Grantee:  

 
1. The Use of the Property. Grantor and Grantee shall cause to be constructed and 

completed multi-family housing units on the Property solely designated for the primary 
use of healthcare workforce housing or participation in the McCall Local Housing 
Program (“Workforce Housing”), together with common area, open space, pedestrian 
pathways connecting to the City of McCall’s Railroad Pathway and adjoining park area 
dedicated to the use of the public, collectively, the “Improvements.” 

2. The Restrictive Covenant. The use of the Property and Improvements for Workforce 
Housing as herein described shall be maintained in perpetuity, unless a proposed 
change in use is initiated by the Grantor’s Board of Directors and shall have first 
obtained the approval of the McCall Memorial Hospital District. This covenant shall 
be binding on all successors in interest of the Grantor or Grantee, including but not 
limited to persons who obtain an interest in the Property by lease, by conveyance, or 
by operation of law. 

3. Right of Reversion. Grantor and Grantee agree that in the event of the formal 
dissolution of the McCall Memorial Hospital District (“District”), the District’s 
interest in the Property and Improvements shall revert to Grantor,  PROVIDED, that, 



 
WARRANTY DEED - 2        sjm 6-9-2025  
4929-8902-8673.v3 

thereafter, any modification of the Restrictive Covenant shall require the prior written 
approval of the Board of County Commissioners of Valley County.  

 
(signatures and acknowledgements on following pages)  

 

 

 

 

 

  



 
WARRANTY DEED - 3        sjm 6-9-2025  
4929-8902-8673.v3 

ST. LUKE’S MCCALL FOUNDATION, INC. 

By: ______________________________  Dated: __________________, 2025 
       William Colpo, President 

 

 

 

STATE OF IDAHO, ) 
(ss. 

County of Valley. ) 
 
 
On this ___ day of ________________, 2025, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and 
for said State, personally appeared William Colpo, known or identified to me to be the President 
of the corporation that executed the instrument or the person who executed the instrument on 
behalf of said corporation, and acknowledged to me that such corporation executed the same. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal, the day and 
year in this certificate first above written. 
 

       
NOTARY PUBLIC FOR IDAHO 
My Commission Expires:    
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
WARRANTY DEED - 4        sjm 6-9-2025  
4929-8902-8673.v3 

 
 
 
 
MCCALL MEMORIAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT 
 
By: ______________________________  Dated: __________________, 2025 
       ANDREW LAIDLAW, Board Chair 

 
 
 
 

 
STATE OF IDAHO ) 

 (ss. 
County of Valley ) 
 
 
On this ________ day of _______________, 2025 before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public in 
and for said state, personally appeared ANDREW LAIDLAW, the Board Chair of the McCall 
Memorial Hospital District, known or identified to me to be the person who executed the foregoing 
instrument and acknowledged to me that he executed the same on behalf of the McCall Memorial 
Hospital District, and was authorized to do so. 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the day and 
year in this certificate first above written. 

      
             
      Notary Public for Idaho 

My Commission Expires: _______________ 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
McCALL MEMORIAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT 

HEALTH SERVICES AGREEMENT (HSA) WORKGROUP MEETING 
WEDNESDAY JUNE 4, 2025; 1:00 - 2:00 p.m. 

Edward Jones Conference Room, 616 N 3rd Street, McCall, ID 83638 
For Microsoft Teams Link: Join the meeting now  

Virtual Meeting ID: 271 209 137 641 4 and Passcode: 4Q5fo3oj 
Phone Audio Only: 1 208-996-1717   Phone Conference ID: 937 750 737# 

 
 
AGENDA:     
      
1.) Review of Public Comment (if necessary) – Mike Vineyard, Workgroup Chair 
2.) Review MMHD Board of Trustees Guidance from May Meeting – Mike Vineyard, Workgroup Chair 
3.) Review of Statement of Rents & Credit System – Kim Doman, SLHS Finance 
4.) Restatement of HSA Agreement – Mike Vineyard, Workgroup Chair 
5.) Public Comment – Mike Vineyard, Workgroup Chair 
6.) Follow One Meeting Schedule – Mike Vineyard, Workgroup Chair 

 
 
 
Upcoming Meetings: 
Next Board Meeting – Tuesday, June 17; 7:30 – 8:30 a.m. 
 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MTJkYTFkZDQtNWI3NC00ZmMyLWI0ZDUtYWY1MGY1M2U1YjJh%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2293fb7985-8893-49e5-8440-bb350d28a54f%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22152a630c-f1db-4f7b-92bb-b0a16d7fee5a%22%7d
tel:+1%20208-996-1717,,83652660#%20


Summary of Lease Agreement:

Asset Purchase Price 15,000,000$                                                 
Assets Purchased by Taxing District 6,228,015$                                                   
Disposal of Taxing District Assets (3,123,265)$                                                  

Total Option Purchase Price 18,104,750$                                                 A

FY24 Expenditures Incurred by St. Luke's Towards Purchase Price

Depreciation Credit 4,119,576$                                                   
Credit for Rent Paid 2,200,282$                                                   
Capital Improvement Credit 3,751,893$                                                   
Administrative Salary 7,291$                                                           
Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposal 5,293$                                                           
Asset Transfers to (from) McCall -$                                                                

4,924,180.57           
FY24 Total Expenditures 10,084,334$                                                 

Prior Years Expenditures 2016-2023

Description   Total Previous Years Expenditures
Administrative Salary 25,718$                                                         
Capital Improvement Credit 65,471,842$                                                 
Credit for Rent Paid 10,561,028$                                                 
Depreciation Credit 10,729,611$                                                 
Asset Transfers to (from) McCall 47,607$                                                         
Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals 219,420$                                                       
Total Prior Years Expenditures 87,055,226$                                                 

Total Expenditures 97,139,560$                                                 B

Remaining Purchase Price (Surplus) (79,034,810)$                                               A - B

St. Luke's McCall
Statement of Rents

As of September 30th, 2024

St. Luke's and McCall Memorial Hospital District entered into a 25 year lease agreement to operate 
the critical access hospital in McCall. The "Real Property" is made up of the Land, the Hospital, and 
all the Buildings comprising the St. Luke's McCall Campus and shall include building or 
improvements that are added to the Land by the District after the Execution Date.  The initial lease 
term begins February 5, 2016 through February 5, 2041 and may be extended out an additional 10 
years after the original contract date. Rent payment consists of all costs, fees, and assessments 
reasonably required to care for, manage, and protect Hospital Property. Including Insurance, 
Repairs and Maintenance, Repair and Maintenance Service Contracts, Ground Expense, Minor 
Improvements and Projects, Telephone, Utilities: Cable, Electricity, Sewer, Trash, Water, Fuel and 
Oil, and Property Tax.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   
The statement of rent is due no later than November 1st and will itemize the costs incurred by 
SLRMC.                                                          



Summary of Lease Agreement:

Asset Purchase Price 15,000,000$   
Assets Purchased by Taxing District 5,047,629$   
Disposal of Taxing District Assets (1,846,359)$   

Total Option Purchase Price 18,201,270$   A

FY23 Expenditures Incurred by St. Luke's Towards Purchase Price

Depreciation Credit 1,327,621$   
Credit for Rent Paid 1,852,612$   
Capital Improvement Credit 15,395,901$   
Administrative Salary 4,301$   
Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposal -$   
Asset Transfers to (from) McCall -$   

4,924,180.57  
FY23 Total Expenditures 18,580,434$   

Prior Years Expenditures 2016-2022

Description  Total Previous Years Expenditures
Administrative Salary 21,417$   
Capital Improvement Credit 50,075,941$   
Credit for Rent Paid 8,708,416$   
Depreciation Credit 9,401,990$   
FY 17 Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals (42,906)$   
FY 18 Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals 279,663$   
FY 19 Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals -$   
FY 20 Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals (15,500)$   
FY 21 Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals (10,969)$   
FY 22 Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals 9,132$   
Asset Transfers to (from) McCall 47,607$   
Total Prior Years Expenditures 68,474,791$   

Total Expenditures 87,055,225$   B

Remaining Purchase Price (Surplus) (68,853,955)$   A - B

St. Luke's McCall
Statement of Rents

As of September 30th, 2023

St. Luke's and McCall Memorial Hospital District entered into a 25 year lease agreement to operate the 
critical access hospital in McCall. The "Real Property" is made up of the Land, the Hospital, and all the 
Buildings comprising the St. Luke's McCall Campus and shall include building or improvements that are 
added to the Land by the District after the Execution Date.  The initial lease term begins February 5, 2016 
through February 5, 2041 and may be extended out an additional 10 years after the original contract 
date. Rent payment consists of all costs, fees, and assessments reasonably required to care for, manage, 
and protect Hospital Property. Including Insurance, Repairs and Maintenance, Repair and Maintenance 
Service Contracts, Ground Expense, Minor Improvements and Projects, Telephone, Utilities: Cable, 
Electricity, Sewer, Trash, Water, Fuel and Oil, and Property Tax.       

Preliminary Draft - Subject to Year End Audit Procedures



Summary of Lease Agreement:

Asset Purchase Price  15,000,000$  

Assets Purchased by Taxing District 3,451,783$  

Disposal of Taxing District Assets (1,846,358)$  

Total Option Purchase Price  16,605,425$   A

FY22 Expenditures Incurred by St. Luke's Towards Purchase Price

Depreciation Credit 854,063$  

Credit for Rent Paid 1,579,623$  

Capital Improvement Credit 25,244,887$  

Administrative Salary 4,029$  

Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposal 9,132$  

Asset Transfers to (from) McCall ‐$  

4,924,180.57           

FY22 Total Expenditures 27,691,733$  

Prior Years Expenditures 2016‐2021

Description   Total Previous Years Expenditures

Administrative Salary 17,389$  

Capital Improvement Credit 24,831,054$  

Credit for Rent Paid 7,128,793$  

Depreciation Credit 8,547,927$  

FY 17 Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals (42,906)$  

FY 18 Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals 279,663$  

FY 19 Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals ‐$  

FY 20 Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals (15,500)$  

FY 21 Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals (10,969)$  

Asset Transfers to (from) McCall 47,607$  

Total Prior Years Expenditures 40,783,058$  

Total Expenditures 68,474,791$   B

Remaining Purchase Price (Surplus) (51,869,366)$   A ‐ B

St. Luke's McCall

Statement of Rents

As of September 30th, 2022

St. Luke's and McCall Memorial Hospital District entered into a 25 year lease agreement to operate 

the critical access hospital in McCall. The "Real Property" is made up of the Land, the Hospital, and 

all the Buildings comprising the St. Luke's McCall Campus and shall include building or improvements 

that are added to the Land by the District after the Execution Date.  The initial lease term begins 

February 5, 2016 through February 5, 2041 and may be extended out an additional 10 years after 

the original contract date. Rent payment consists of all costs, fees, and assessments reasonably 

required to care for, manage, and protect Hospital Property. Including Insurance, Repairs and 

Maintenance, Repair and Maintenance Service Contracts, Ground Expense, Minor Improvements and 

Projects, Telephone, Utilities: Cable, Electricity, Sewer, Trash, Water, Fuel and Oil, and Property Tax.    

Preliminary Draft -Subject to Year End Audit Procedures



Summary of Lease Agreement:

Asset Purchase Price 15,000,000$                                                                                      
Assets Purchased by Taxing District 2,651,255$                                                                                        
Disposal of Taxing District Assets (1,640,852)$                                                                                       

Total Option Purchase Price 16,010,403$                                                                                      A

FY21 Expenditures Incurred by St. Luke's Towards Purchase Price

Depreciation Credit 1,268,541$                                                                                        
Credit for Rent Paid 1,351,611$                                                                                        
Capital Improvement Credit 7,235,936$                                                                                        
Administrative Salary 3,494$                                                                                                
Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposal (10,969)$                                                                                            
Asset Transfers to (from) McCall -$                                                                                                    

4,924,180.57       
FY21 Total Expenditures 9,848,613$                                                                                        

Prior Years Expenditures 2016-2020

Description   Total Previous Years Expenditures
Administrative Salary 13,894$                                                                                             
Capital Improvement Credit 17,595,118$                                                                                      
Credit for Rent Paid 5,777,182$                                                                                        
Depreciation Credit 7,279,386$                                                                                        
FY 17 Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals (42,906)$                                                                                            
FY 18 Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals 279,663$                                                                                           
FY 19 Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals -$                                                                                                    
FY 20 Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals (15,500)$                                                                                            
Asset Transfers to (from) McCall 47,607$                                                                                             
Total Prior Years Expenditures 30,934,444$                                                                                      

Total Expenditures 40,783,057$                                                                                      B

Remaining Purchase Price (Surplus) (24,772,654)$                                                                                    A - B

St. Luke's McCall
Statement of Rents

As of September 30th, 2021

St. Luke's and McCall Memorial Hospital District entered into a 25 year lease agreement to operate the critical access hospital in McCall. 
The "Real Property" is made up of the Land, the Hospital, and all the Buildings comprising the St. Luke's McCall Campus and shall include 
building or improvements that are added to the Land by the District after the Execution Date.  The initial lease term begins February 5, 
2016 through February 5, 2041 and may be extended out an additional 10 years after the original contract date. Rent payment consists of 
all costs, fees, and assessments reasonably required to care for, manage, and protect Hospital Property. Including Insurance, Repairs and 
Maintenance, Repair and Maintenance Service Contracts, Ground Expense, Minor Improvements and Projects, Telephone, Utilities: Cable, 
Electricity, Sewer, Trash, Water, Fuel and Oil, and Property Tax.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   
The statement of rent is due no later than November 1st and will itemize the costs incurred by SLRMC.                                                          



Summary of Lease Agreement:

Asset Purchase Price  15,000,000$   

Assets Purchased by Taxing District 2,254,038$  

Disposal of Taxing District Assets (1,819,545)$   

Total Option Purchase Price  15,434,493$    A

FY20 Expenditures Incurred by St. Luke's Towards Purchase Price

Depreciation Credit 1,431,923$  

Credit for Rent Paid 1,107,125$  

Capital Improvement Credit 6,594,961$  

Administrative Salary 3,354$   

Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposal $  (12,717)

Asset Transfers to (from) McCall ‐$  

4,924,180.57       

FY20 Total Expenditures 9,124,646$    B

(4,200,465.43)      

Prior Years Expenditures 2016‐2019

Description   Total Previous Years Expenditures

Administrative Salary 10,540$   

Capital Improvement Credit 11,000,157$   

Credit for Rent Paid 4,670,057$  

Depreciation Credit 5,847,463$  

FY 17 Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals (42,906)$  

FY 18 Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals 279,663$  

FY 19 Loss (Gain) on Asset Disposals ‐$  

Asset Transfers to (from) McCall 47,607$   

Grand Total 21,812,581$    C

Remaining Purchase Price  (15,502,734)$   A‐(B+C)

St. Luke's McCall

Statement of Rents

As of Septmeber 30, 2020

St. Luke's and McCall Memorial Hospital District entered into a 25 year lease agreement to operate the critical 

access hospital in McCall. The "Real Property" is made up of the Land, the Hospital, and all the Buildings 

comprising the St. Luke's McCall Campus and shall include building or improvements that are added to the 

Land by the District after the Execution Date.  The initial lease term begins February 5, 2016 through February 

5, 2041 and may be extended out an additional 10 years after the original contract date. Rent payment 

consists of all costs, fees, and assessments reasonably required to care for, manage, and protect Hospital 

Property. Including Insurance, Repairs and Maintenance, Repair and Maintenance Service Contracts, Ground 

Expense, Minor Improvements and Projects, Telephone, Utilities: Cable, Electricity, Sewer, Trash, Water, Fuel 

and Oil, and Property Tax.

The statement of rent is due no later than November 1st and will itemize the costs incurred by SLRMC.



 
McCALL MEMORIAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT 
HEALTH SERVICES AGREEMENT WORKGROUP MEETING MINUTES 
WEDNESDAY, JUNE 4, 2025; 1:03 – 1:42 p.m. 
EDWARD JONES CONFERENCE ROOM & MICROSOFT TEAMS VIRTUAL MEETING 
 
TRUSTEES PRESENT: Mike Vineyard, District Trustee & Workgroup Chair, Travis Leonard, District 

Secretary, and Steve Clements, Trustee 
 
STANDING GUESTS: Mike Birkinbine, SLM Supply Chain, Laura Crawford SLM PR and Comm. 

Bus. Partner, Kim Doman, SLHS Finance, Amber Green, SLM COO/CNO, 
Jordan Heller, SLHS Legal Counsel, Alexa Hersel, SLM Exec. Asst., Steve 
Millemann, MMHD Legal Counsel 

 
ABSENT:  None 
 
PUBLIC PRESENT: Tom & Tomi Grote 
 
WELCOME – Mike Vineyard, Hospital District Trustee and Workgroup Chair, convened the meeting at 
1:03 p.m. The in-person trustee attendance included Travis Leonard, Secretary, Steve Clements, and 
Mike Vineyard. The in-person guest attendance included Amber Green and Laura Crawford. All other 
participants attended remotely.  
 
REVIEW OF PUBLIC COMMENT (IF NECESSARY) - No public comment received.  
 
REVIEW OF MMHD BOARD OF TRUSTEES GUIDEANCE FROM MAY MEETING - Mike Vineyard, 
District Trustee and Workgroup Chair, recapped the discussion from the May 20, 2025, McCall 
Memorial Hospital District board meeting. Afterwards, it was determined that the following will take the 
lead on next steps:  

1.) Mike Vineyard will draft a summary of the Health Services and Lease Option agreements and 
will work with Steve Millemann to review. 

2.) Mike Vineyard will draft a summary of the Statement of Rents. 
3.) Travis Leonard and Steve Clements will gather the information needed to develop a timeline for 

an advisory vote on the ballot.  
 
REVIEW OF STATEMENT OF RENTS & CREDITS SYSTEM REVIEW – Kim Doman, SLHS Finance, 
reviewed the Statement of Rents that was presented and approved at the January 21, 2025, McCall 
Memorial Hospital District board meeting. She noted the top paragraph of the document, which 
specifically calls out the Statement of Rents line items, which are also defined in the agreements. 
Discussion on depreciation schedules and partnerships were held.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT – None.  
 
FOLLOW ONE MEETING SCHEDULE – The workgroup decided that the meeting schedule will be 
determined after the July 15 McCall Memorial Hospital District board meeting. 
 
ADJOURNMENT - The workgroup adjourned at 1:42 p.m. 
Respectfully submitted,  
 
____________________  
Travis Leonard, MMHD Board Secretary       :ah 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
McCALL MEMORIAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT 

PUBLIC INFORMATION CAMPAIGN WORKGROUP MEETING 
THURSDAY JUNE 5, 2025; 3:00 - 4:00 p.m. 

Administrative Conference Room; 1000 State St. McCall, ID 83638 
For Microsoft Teams Link: Join the meeting now  

Virtual Meeting ID: 252 199 449 775 1 and Passcode: dK3a3YT3 
Phone Audio Only: 1 208-996-1717   Phone Conference ID: 840 286 386# 

 
 
AGENDA:     
      
1.) Welcome – Aana Vannoy, Workgroup Chair 
2.) Finalize FAQs for Website – Workgroup 
3.) Assign FAQs – Aana Vannoy, Workgroup Chair 
4.) Timing for Completion and Next Steps - Aana Vannoy, Workgroup Chair 
5.) Public Comment – Aana Vannoy, Workgroup Chair 
6.) Set Tentative Timeframe for Next Workgroup Meeting and Agenda – Aana Vannoy, Workgroup 

Chair 
 
 
Upcoming Meetings: 
Next Board Meeting – Tuesday, June 17; 7:30 – 8:30 a.m. 
 

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_YTZkM2E3MmUtNzI0ZC00NWI4LThmZmYtZTIzZDZkYzVhY2Zi%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2293fb7985-8893-49e5-8440-bb350d28a54f%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22152a630c-f1db-4f7b-92bb-b0a16d7fee5a%22%7d
tel:+1%20208-996-1717,,83652660#%20


MMHD PUBLIC INFORMATION / FAQs 

 

1. When and why was the McCall Memorial Hospital District created? 
 

2. When and why did MMHD form a relationship with St. Luke’s? 
 

3. What projects has the district funded or contributed to so far? 
 

4. What hospital services do we have that either wouldn’t exist or would have experienced 
significant delays, potentially impacting access to care, without funding from MMHD? 
 

5. Does St. Luke’s still need MMHD support?  
 

6. Who owns the land and buildings that St. Luke’s operates in? 
 

7. What is the funding process and how much funding does MMHD have access to annually? 
 

8. Are there any restrictions on how MMHD funds can be used? 
 

9. How can I give input to MMHD? 
 

10. Who pays to continue programs/services initially funded by MMHD? 
 

11. Has the mission of the district changed over time? 
 

12. Who ensures taxpayers’ money is spent responsibility? 
 

13. Why is public funding from Valley County used to support a hospital that provides services to a 
larger regional population? 
 

14. What happens if the hospital district is dissolved? 
 
 

• Include link the Health Services Agreement after consulting with legal 



REVISED MMHD PUBLIC INFORMATION / FAQs 

 

1. When and why was the McCall Memorial Hospital District established and what prompted its 
partnership with St. Luke’s? 
 

2. What projects or improvements has the Hospital District funded? 
 

3. How does the partnership between the Hospital District and St. Luke’s impact healthcare in the 
community?  
 

4. Who owns the land and buildings that St. Luke’s operates out of in McCall? 
 

5. How much funding does MMHD have access to annually? 
 

6. How does MMHD decide what to fund and who ensures funds are used responsibly?  
 

7. Why are funds from taxpayers within the Hospital District used to support a hospital that 
provides services to a larger regional population? 
 

8. How can community members share input or stay informed about MMHD decisions/processes? 
 
 

 



 
McCALL MEMORIAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT 
PUBLIC INFORMATION CAMPAIGN WORKGROUP MEETING MINUTES 
THURSDAY, JUNE 5, 2025; 3:01 – 3:57 p.m. 
ADMINISTRATIVE CONFERENCE ROOM & MICROSOFT TEAMS VIRTUAL MEETING 
 
TRUSTEES PRESENT: Aana Vannoy, Trustee & Workgroup Chair, Marge Krahn, Treasurer, and 

Angela Staup, Trustee 
 
STANDING GUESTS: Laura Crawford SLM PR and Comm. Bus. Partner, Amber Green, SLM 

COO/CNO, Jordan Heller, SLHS Legal Counsel, Alexa Hersel, SLM Exec. 
Asst., and Dennis Mesaros, VP Pop. Health 

 
ABSENT:  Steve Clements, Trustee 
 
PUBLIC PRESENT: Tom and Tomi Grote 
 
WELCOME – Aana Vannoy, Hospital District Trustee and Workgroup Chair, convened the meeting at 
3:01 p.m. The in-person trustee attendance included Marge Krahn, Board Treasurer, and Aana Vannoy, 
Trustee. The in-person guest attendance included Laura Crawford and Amber Green. All other 
participants attended remotely.  
 
FINALIZE FAQ FOR WEBSITE - Aana Vannoy, Hospital District Trustee and Workgroup Chair, led a 
discussion of the draft FAQ questions, sorting them into categories.  
 
ASSIGN FAQ’S -  Aana Vannoy, Hospital District Trustee and Workgroup Chair, assigned the FAQ 
categories, and a deadline of June 26, 2025, was set to review the draft category responses. 
 

1.) History: Marge Krahn  
2.) Property/Building Ownership: Angela Staup 
3.) Value of Partnership: Aana Vannoy 
4.) Funding: Aana Vannoy 
5.) Public Funding for a hospital that provides services to a larger region:  Laura Crawford will 

provide St. Luke’s McCall utilization data based on residency.  
 
TIMING FOR COMPLETION AND NEXT STEPS – Aana Vannoy, Hospital District Trustee and 
Workgroup Chair, recapped the assignments and deadline and noted a follow up email is forthcoming. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT - None.  
 
SET TENTATIVE TIMEFRAME FOR NEXT WORKGROUP MEETING AND AGENDA – None at this 
time. 
 
ADJOURNMENT - The workgroup adjourned at 3:57 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted,  
 
____________________  
Travis Leonard, MMHD Board Secretary      
  :ah 







 

To: Raúl Labrador, Attorney General, State of Idaho
Re: Consideration and Evaluation of Citizen Complaints Against Possible Illegal Transactions Between 
McCall Memorial Hospital Taxing District and St. Luke’s Health Systems
Date: TBD

Dear Attorney General Labrador,
As a State Representative for District 8 on behalf of the signatories to this request, I respectfully ask that 
your office conduct a legal review of the use of public tax revenue by the McCall Memorial Hospital 
District (MMHD). Since 2016, 100% of the district's revenue (less its operation expenses) has been given 
to St. Luke's Health Systems. Based on publicly available information, (see supporting documents), we 
believe this to be an abuse of the district's charter and a violation of the Idaho Constitution. Their actions:

• exceed their statutory authority and clearly skirt their own by-laws
• violate the "gift clause" articulated in Article 8, Section 2 of the Idaho State Constitution, which 

we read to mean that public funds may only be awarded when it can be clearly demonstrated that the 
expenditure benefits the public more than a private entity

• violate Article 8, Section 4 of the Idaho Constitution which prohibits public entities from using 
public funds to subsidize private organizations, including charities (non-profits). We read the purpose of 
this clause to be similar to Section 2, namely to prevent the use of public funds for private purposes and 
to ensure that public money is used for public benefit.

• violate the trust invested in them by giving lip service and using stall tactics to avoid granting an 
advisory vote to gauge their patrons' opinion of their decisions
We expand on each of these contentions in the accompanying support documentation.
We further present public record documentation that St. Luke's possibly deliberately deceived the MMHD 
board on at least one transaction to secure their preferred outcome.
We are conscious of the fact that the specific type of taxing arrangement we are asking you to review 
only occurs in two Idaho counties (Elmore and Valley). But if you find elements in this case to be 
unconstitutional and unlawful, it will serve as a cautionary tale and a refresher course to the many other 
kinds of public/private health care relationships that exist in Idaho. The compliance review of practices 
your findings will trigger—even if you find no irregularities here—will clarify the law which is a benefit to all 
Idaho taxpayers.

Your immediate consideration is vital. If you find merit in our arguments, 
MMHD is set to commit another $1.4M infraction against their patrons in 

August—unless your office intervenes

Recently, MMHD entered into a partnership with St. Luke's McCall Foundation, a private local charity that 
exclusively benefits St. Luke's McCall, to build workforce housing. The district has said the arrangement 
is legal because its partnership is with SLM Foundation and not directly with St. Luke's. We call this a 
money launder and a shell game. There is no difference between St. Luke's McCall and a foundation 
pledged to benefit St. Luke's McCall. The housing will be restricted exclusively to hospital employees and 
managed by St. Luke's. St. Luke's McCall facility turned a $15M profit on operations in 2023, so they can 

FAYE THOMPSON
DISTRICT 8

VALLEY, BOISE, CUSTER & 
ELMORE COUNTIES

HOME ADDRESS
1328 SHADOW RIDGE
MCCALL, IDAHO 83638

(208) 634-6569
EMAIL: fthompson@house.idaho.gov

mailto:fthompson@house.idaho.gov


hardly plead poverty. We argue that this project is a clear public wage subsidy to a highly profitable 
private business.
In Lutheran Hospital & Homes Society v. Board of County Commissioners (1972) the Idaho Supreme 
Court ruled: “If the primary object is for a public purpose and the benefit to any private interest is merely 
incidental, it is not prohibited by the constitution.” As we pointed out above, the benefit to St. Luke's is 
hardly incidental. The district claims that the project is primarily of benefit to the public. But the public 
doesn't see it that way. In March, 2024, the same electorate denounced an identical workforce housing 
project proposed by the local school district with only 42% of voters approving. The only difference 
between the school project and this one was that the public got to vote. In August of 2024, we asked the 
MMHD board to allow a vote on the housing project in the May, 2025 election. They declined to even 
discuss it.
We respectfully urge your office to review this matter and, if you find merit, inform the MMHD board that 
you are 1. investigating the matter and 2. inform them that any further contributions to the workforce 
housing project could be subject to litigation pending the completion of your review (or whatever action 
you deem appropriate).
And while we are on the subject:
In the last decade, MMHD has funded an ambulance and a garage to house it. We submit that this is 
inarguably a business necessity of operating a hospital. Such an assurance of a basic service should 
have come under the original contractual agreement between the district and St. Luke's. If it was not, the 
2016 MMHD board was guilty of negligence. In addition, no attempt was made by the board to entertain 
service providers of ambulance services independent of St. Luke's. And, we can document a proposal 
from the local EMS agencies worthy of the board's consideration that was deliberately withheld by St. 
Luke's staff to secure their preferred option.
More recently, the district funded the remodel of a facility to house an urgent care clinic to be operated 
exclusively by St. Luke's. There are private businesses specializing in urgent care services, as any drive 
around Boise will attest. No attempt was made to entertain competitive proposals. District funds built the 
facility and St. Luke's operates it in exchange for not sharing the revenue. Since the public is privy only to 
the most general summation of St. Luke's McCall profit/loss information, there is no way to inspect how 
lucrative this facility is. But numbers presented to the board on patient increases suggest it is highly 
profitable. And to underscore that, the neighboring Cascade hospital district opened a UCC 15 minutes 
away from the St. Luke's McCall facility. It is doubtful that an independent hospital—that doesn't have 
near the financial resources of St. Luke's—would undertake a venture so far off its campus if they 
expected to lose money.
We do not ask of your valuable time lightly. 
The relationship between McCall Memorial Hospital Taxing District and St. Luke's Health Services is 
governed by the district's by-laws and an agreement brokered by your predecessor, Lawrence Wasden. In 
2016, Mr. Wasden properly saw a constitutional conflict with the merger arrangements St. Luke's had 
entered into in McCall and Mountain Home. He blocked an identical merger in Weiser on constitutional 
grounds before it could be completed (interestingly, that hospital remains independent to this day). He 
declined to walk back agreements already in place in Mountain Home and McCall, despite his claim of 
unconstitutionality. Instead, he compelled adjustments to the existing relationships. He claimed these 
changes satisfied the constitutional questions.
Did they? Since 2016, there has been no state oversight or review of the funding transactions between 
MMHD and St, Luke's. We argue in our documentation that all of them are unconstitutional because 
nothing in the agreement restricts the district from seeking bids from alternate service providers. In 
addition, the district's own bylaws define the district's purpose: providing for the betterment of public 
health and the necessary care and treatment of persons requiring medical services...
St. Luke's is not the only provider of medical services in the district, so the board's actions do not reflect 
the spirit of their own bylaws. Since the agreement, 100% of the patrons' tax dollars have been 
transferred to St. Luke's for St. Luke's managed projects. It also does not prevent the district from 



entertaining proposals from other petitioners that "provide for the betterment of public health," such as 
EMT services—or even non-profits that promote fitness and exercise. 
We have come to you because we have no other practical way of stopping another big chunk of our tax 
bills from perpetuating these constitutionally questionable projects, despite repeated overtures to the 
board to seriously seek public opinion. They are holding us hostage. We can't afford fancy lawyers like 
they can, so we ask you to turn the tables and hold them accountable. Even if we would choose to 
litigate, the district would use our tax dollars to defend itself, so we would literally be suing ourselves. 
Your involvement is the only equitable way for our grassroots group to right this wrong (more details in 
supporting documentation).
Spearheading our movement is a retired newspaper publisher, a medical doctor and me. We represent 
MMHD patrons from all walks of life and political persuasions, many of whom are signatories to this 
request (see packet for a list).
Please let me know if our group can provide any additional documentation or information to assist in your 
review. We appreciate your attention to this matter and your continued service to the people of Idaho.

Sincerely,

Faye Thompson 
Idaho State Representative, District 8
fthompson@house.idaho.gov
Co-signatories:

Curt Meske, M.D. 
45 Shooting Star Lane 
McCall, Idaho 83638
meskenz16@gmail.com

Tomi Grote, retired publisher, The Star-News
1000 North First Street
McCall, Idaho 83638
tomigrote@icloud.com

...and the petitioners included in this packet



Arguments 
General Constitutionality/Idaho Code Violation Argument

Idaho statutes and administrative rules consistently say that tax revenue generally cannot be 
given directly to a non-profit, private business unless it is done through a recognized grant 
program or contractual arrangement that serves a public purpose. The McCall Memorial 
Hospital Taxing district has never operated under anything resembling a "recognized grant 
program." Looking at the code, we interpret the phrase to involve an established set of rules for 
application for funds. The applicants have to come from a varied pool, not a singular one. As we 
argue more specifically below, that is how the district's structure should work. But, since 2016, 
St. Luke's has been the sole applicant and the sole recipient of district funds. Example citations: 
Idaho Code § 67-4723 and Idaho Administrative Code r. 28.02.03.050:
The Idaho Constitution's Gift Clause: specifically found in Article 8, section 2, aims to prevent 
the use of public funds for private purposes and to ensure that public money is used for public 
benefit:
The credit of the state shall not, in any manner, be given, or loaned to, or in aid of any individual, 
association, municipality or corporation; nor shall the state directly or indirectly, become a 
stockholder in any association or corporation.”
PUBLIC BENEFIT OR PUBLIC PURPOSE. Courts appear to have interpreted the constitution 
to allow public funds to go to non-profits only if the expenditure serves a public purpose (or 
public benefit, as worded in the 'gift clause'). And the 'public benefit' must be 'equivalent' not 
'incidental' Quoting the decision City of Boise v. Frazier, 2007 (emphasis added): The question 
is whether the expenditure serves a primarily public purpose and whether the public receives 
an equivalent benefit, not simply whether the public might experience some incidental 
advantage. The court also determined that long-term, multi-year projects, such as the district's 
current housing project, do not constitute an ordinary and necessary need as constitutionally 
required. Without that exception, they must be put to a vote. If you look at the case, we submit 
you will conclude as we do: that this decision applies to any "subdivision of the state" and that 
the MMHD is such a subdivision.
In fact, none of the three major grants to St. Luke's McCall from MMHD since 2016 pass the 
Frazier test. An ambulance and a garage to house it in is a clear business necessity for a private 
enterprise, not a 'value added' to tax paying patrons. In addition, the district funded an Urgent 
Care Clinic. Neither the ambulance service nor the UCC were competitively bid and in the case 
of the ambulance, a competitive bid was withheld from the board by St. Luke's staff. Both 
expenditures constitute exclusive favoritism toward St. Luke's. A workforce housing project 
exclusive to St. Luke's employees also demonstrates favoritism. We challenge the MMHD board 
to show that the benefit of the housing project to the taxpayer is equivalent to or greater than the 
value of the project''s wage subsidy for St. Luke's. That is the only way they can justify such 
exclusive favoritism as a public benefit.
In addition, all of these projects took over one year to complete, violating the spirt of the ordinary 
and necessary need determination in Frazier. The ambulance garage only began construction in 
the spring and the workforce housing project will stretch probably over a decade.
Compelling Financial Need: Furthermore, on a practical level, there is no plausible case that 
can be made that the district's funds financed facilities St. Luke's McCall couldn't afford to 
provide and couldn't profit from to such a degree that they wouldn't fully amortize their 
investment in a very short time. SLHS cleared $15M in operating profit from its McCall 
operations in 2023, the latest public figures available. These profits are not going back into their 
McCall service area. They are being used to pay for SLHS priorities elsewhere, over which the 
district taxpayer has no control.



The 'Wasden Agreement’: The original agreements St. Luke's had in McCall and Mountain 
Home compelled the hospital districts to transfer tax revenues and assets to St. Luke's to do 
with as they pleased. At the time of Attorney General Lawrence Wasden's inquiry, a similar 
arrangement with the independent hospital in Weiser had been approved, but not finalized. Both 
MMHD and Mountain Home retained their taxing authority after merging operations with St. 
Luke's Health System, (a private, nonprofit health care conglomerate) in 2010. 
Mr Wasden found these initial arrangements to be unconstitutional. He blocked the Weiser 
merger but allowed the Mountain Home and McCall pacts to stand under a modified agreement 
because those relationships were 'too far along,' according to news reports at the time. As a 
result, St. Luke's agreed to return all real estate and free-lease the facilities in both 
communities. St. Luke's would be allowed to apply for district funding, but the districts did the 
deciding on granting the request. Mr. Wasden declared himself "satisfied." This avoided a 
messy dissolution of two arrangements, but we question if a court would agree that it resolved 
the original constitutional questions. 
Hardly "Arms-Length": The process Wasden brokered supposedly established an 'arms 
length' relationship in regard to the property, but, as cited above, it left the MMHD board with the 
clear impression that St. Luke's was their exclusive "partner" (this term 'partner' comes up 
constantly in reference to St. Luke's in board deliberations). There is nothing in the district's by-
laws that corroborates that and the word "partner" never occurs in the 2016 Health Services 
Agreement. But nobody has corrected the board's misinterpretation. Despite our repeated 
efforts, the board itself does not seem to be interested in correcting it. So SLM has been the 
sole benefactor of the district's revenues and will continue to be unless the Attorney General's 
office or a court educates them.
Bylaws were violated: The taxing district's own bylaws state that their purpose (is to provide) 
"for the betterment of public health and the necessary care and treatment of persons requiring 
medical services, including, as necessary, the construction, maintenance and improvement of 
public hospitals...within the District, as well as fulfillment of those duties as established by Idaho 
law at Section 39-1318, Idaho code, et seq. as presently enacted or hereafter amended." None 
of those conditions justify the district's granting of tax dollars exclusively to St. Luke's for non-
essential enhancement projects that could have benefited from a competitive bidding process. 
1. St. Luke's selected the ambulance and is managing the construction of the garage (which 
resulted in a 35% cost overrun which the patron absorbed). 2. Despite obvious evidence of a 
competitive marketplace, there was no attempt to solicit bids from providers of urgent care clinic 
services. 3. The bylaws allow "construction, maintenance and improvement of public hospitals" 
but it's a wild stretch to include the district's off campus workforce housing project in that 
definition.
Workforce Housing Project Argument 
The district purchased roughly half of the land on which a workforce housing project exclusive to 
St. Luke's employees (not other providers of health care services) is being built. St. Luke's 
McCall Foundation (SLMF), a private charity dedicated to solely benefit St. Luke's McCall, 
purchased the other half. The district has justified the use of tax revenue for development of this 
housing on the basis that it partially owns the land, though there appears to be no statute 
explicitly authorizing hospital districts to use taxpayer funds in this way. This use exclusion to 
SLM employees constitutes a wage subsidy funded by public dollars. The district has already 
committed about $3 million in public funds toward land purchase, design work and preliminary 
construction costs, and the board has publicly expressed its intent to apply either the full 
capacity of its taxing authority (about $1.5 million annually) or the better part of it, to the 
workforce housing project for the indefinite future. At completion, the total investment of 



public funds could well exceed $25M. We contend that funneling public funds through St. 
Luke's McCall Foundation is a money laundering shell game.
We further posit the following:
• The partial ownership is meaningless to the taxpayer:  
The district’s share of the project is practically worthless because it is locked into a larger project 
it does not control, cannot sell individually, and that primarily enriches a private entity. Owning a 
square of the parking lot does not make a private shopping mall a public asset.
• It is de facto exclusive use by a private employer
The district's mission is to enhance the quality of health care to the patrons in the district. That in 
no way restricts them from granting funds to other health care services. If the housing were 
open to any health care worker, local EMTs for instance, there might be a stronger case for it. 
Restricting it only to St. Luke’s employees and facilities shows the true purpose: subsidizing the 
conglomerate's workforce, not promoting quality health care in general. St. Luke's will manage 
the properties. So much for "arms length.”
• Housing is a business necessity in a resort community
Other large businesses, such as Shore Lodge, Brundage Mountain and Tamarack Resort have 
all felt the need to build workforce housing at their own expense as a business necessity. They 
are indispensable contributors to McCall’s economy, so why isn’t their need considered a clear 
public benefit? 
• It benefits a private party disproportionately to the public:  
By improving St. Luke’s employee recruitment and retention, the primary economic winner is St. 
Luke’s itself. The public has no control over SLM's staffing choices. The housing will be 
provided according to the staffing needs as St. Luke's determines them, not as the public 
determines them. It would be impossible to involve the public in individual staffing decisions. 
That lack of public control constitutes a wage subsidy.
• Shell structure conceals the transaction: 
The involvement of the St. Luke’s Foundation is a deliberate veil to avoid the appearance of 
directly enriching St. Luke’s, but functionally, it’s the same.
• Public funds are not for private corporate aid:  
As we pointed out previously, Idaho courts have recognized that public funds must not be used 
to subsidize private corporations unless the public benefit is primary and clear — and this looks 
to us like a backdoor subsidy to protect St. Luke’s wage margins in a competitive labor market. 
Staffing shortages at the low to mid-level are problems, but they don’t directly endanger 
emergency medical care the way a doctor or ER nurse shortage might (who, though not 
relevant to this argument, are ineligible for the housing). Helping low-to-mid level workers live 
nearby does not constitute an urgent public necessity. That, we posit, does not pass court tests 
of urgency and necessity when evaluating whether public funds can be used for a private 
benefit.
• Inattentiveness to public objections:
There is a document in the board's minutes objecting to the workforce housing project dated 
August 2024, prior to any building activity commencing and prior to committing the major portion 
of MMHD's 2025 budget to it. The board acknowledged only that it had received the objection, 
which we acknowledge is the bare minimum owed to public comment, but did not take up the 
matter and still has not as of the date of this submittal. They have acknowledged patron unrest 
but have shown no evidence of weighing their support for the workforce housing project in the 
face of it. In the meantime, ground has been broken, binding agreements entered into and 
public funds expended on a project of highly dubious legal standing and public support.
Based on the above, we ask you to look into the following:



   • Whether the district's use of funds for off-campus workforce housing that is restricted to the 
use of and under the control of a single private entity constitutes a permissible public purpose 
under Idaho law and 
   • Whether the execution of all projects in the complaint having been exclusive to St. Luke's 
violated the district's own bylaws;
   • Whether the partnership arrangement with the private foundation represents an unlawful gift 
or subsidy to a private entity;
   • Whether this action falls within the scope of authority granted to hospital districts under Idaho 
Code § 39-1331 et seq.;
   • Whether the arrangement violates Article VIII, Section 2 and Article VIII, Section 4 of the 
Idaho Constitution and
   • If the board's failure to take warnings of public unrest and the clear evidence of the school 
district result seriously before granting the latest round of funding constitutes negligence. We 
argue that it is the board's responsibility to consider patron opinion publicly before making major 
funding decisions.
Urgent Care Facility

The hospital district paid for a remodel of facilities it free-leases to St. Luke's McCall to establish 
an urgent care clinic. We argue that these types of services are profitable, as evidenced by their 
proliferation in municipalities large and small. Lots of companies - non-profit and for-profit alike 
are opening UCCs. None of those were built with public funds. And even if St. Luke's didn't think 
it in their interests to open a UCC in McCall, it is not the only entity which could do so. In fact, 
Cascade Medical Center recently opened one just down the road in Donnelly, which is just 
minutes in driving distance from McCall (and actually a shorter distance for many of the MMHD 
district's own patrons! Public funds, in this case, were used to give an unfair advantage to one 
provider in a competitive business environment by paying start-up costs that other operators in 
the space do not have. 
We argue this is unlawful because:
• there appears to have been no competitive bidding in a service the marketplace indicates is 
lucrative. The funding was exclusionary to a single, private provider. St. Luke’s operates the 
urgent care clinic for profit and keeps the revenue. Isn't this exclusive favoritism barred under 
Idaho's public funds rules? For instance, no thought was given to pursuing a partnership with 
Cascade Medical Center for a mutually beneficial joint operation.
• the court test of 'fair value to the public' is violated because the expense of public funds 
resulted in profits for St. Luke's. The public was compelled to interfere with the marketplace. The 
derived benefit was clearly in St. Luke's favor. We argue that these two points — primary benefit 
and fair exchange — would fail the Gift Clause tests Idaho courts would apply.
• technically, the district doesn't even own the facility. Due to an option agreement with St. 
Luke's, the whole 'arms-length' deal Mr. Wasden drove became another shell game. In 
exchange for an investment by St. Luke's to build a new hospital on the campus, the district 
granted St. Luke's 'credits' that apply to the purchase price of the campus buildings. St. Luke's 
has enough credits (and change) to acquire the buildings on the campus any time it chooses to 
exercise its option. This was true even when the district granted the urgent care facility 
appropriation. So the board financed a facility for the profit of St. Luke's, knowing that their 
patrons could not expect any residual ownership equity. The MMHD board's rationalization is 
that it was a prudent exchange for St. Luke's investment in a $60M new hospital facility. This 
was a project that St. Luke's mismanaged so badly that the finished cost was double the 
budget. The patrons had no control over its expense nor its design. Yet patrons gave up the 
whole $60M in credits, which means that all the capital projects the taxing district finances for 



the next 25-30 years are technically owned by St. Luke's before they are even built! We are 
confident a court would rule against this on the 'incidental' public value test.

We also argue that St. Luke's used its monopoly status in the marketplace to secure 
funding
• At the time that the MMHD board determined that its patrons wanted an urgent care clinic 
(using questionable data and metrics), the Cascade Medical Center facility was not on the radar. 
St. Luke's told the board that an urgent care clinic in McCall was not on their priority list and 
would not be in the near future because their market analysis concluded such a venture risky. 
We charge that they used well-known 'corporate bargaining behavior' to convince the MMHD 
board that an urgent care clinic was a risky investment, knowing that the board's desire for the 
facility would make them highly likely to fund it.
• To corroborate the above assertion, when the McCall UCC opened, St. Luke's had a much 
different attitude toward its potential. They even went so far as to say it was their idea in the first 
place:
Planning for the new walk-in clinic started in 2019 when a review of admissions to the 
emergency room at the St. Luke’s McCall Hospital found that almost half of the 6,538 ER visits 
could have been handled by an urgent care clinic instead. St. Luke’s McCall identified urgent 
care services as a major need to better serve the community and to create a more affordable 
access to care. On average, an urgent care clinic visit costs about one-third of an emergency 
department visit, (St. Luke's McCall COO) Green said. —Star-News July 27, 2023
• In the same news story, the St. Luke's official countered the MMHD board's justification for 
granting the funds, which was that it was unknown how long it would be (clearly implying that it 
would be a very long time) before SL would install a UCC in McCall. COO Green said that it 
only would have been a few years! "We likely would have had to wait for a few more years if it 
wasn’t for the District and the Foundation.” The MMHD board took great, righteous umbrage at 
our argument that the UCC would have happened in a short time anyway (because of the 
obvious market-driven factors). Well...they evidently forgot to consult their "partners."
• As it turned out, the nearly 50% reduction in ER visits that were expected ended up being only 
10%, according to a St. Luke's staff report to the MMHD board in February 2025. However, 
according to the same staff report, UCC visits increased by 3-4 times that many. So the UCC is 
a major overall positive revenue generator by St. Luke's own admission.

Ambulance Services

The district bought an ambulance for St. Luke's when the McCall EMT services determined they 
could no longer provide 24/7 service for hospital transport needs. That didn't require a publicly-
funded solution. St. Luke's had been fortunate to benefit from the dependence of the formerly 
independent hospital on McCall EMT services. In fact. that arrangement should have cancelled 
when the merger itself took place. St. Luke's was not entitled to publicly funded services just 
because nobody caught the impropriety. So when the freebie was withdrawn, was it incumbent 
on the public to finance a business necessity? No hospital operates without some form of 
transport ambulance service! 
To add more insult to this injury, St. Luke's staff deliberately withheld a worthy contract proposal 
from Donnelly Fire/EMS from the board, according to emails we obtained through a public 
record request. That exchange is in the documentation in this packet. Your office may wish to 
request board minutes from this time period to see what the board deliberations actually were, 
but it appears they were presented only with options preferred by St. Luke's.

https://www.mccallstarnews.com/urgent-care-to-open-at-st-lukes/


We argue that the appropriation of the district was unlawful because:
• A hospital must have an ambulance to operate safely — it’s a business necessity. The 
ambulance exclusively serves patients of St. Luke's and enhances their ability to bill for 
emergency services, this is not a public gift. One of our group's members reported paying $600 
for a three-minute ambulance ride to McCall airport. We are certain this service is profitable but 
we do not have access to detailed St. Luke's McCall financials to prove it. But you can compel 
the information and we hope you will do so, if for no better reason than to document how skilled 
corporations can deceive altruistic board members.
• Even if your office determines that an ambulance is not a business necessity, no bidding 
process for it was executed, in violation of the district's own bylaws. And St. Luke's staff 
deliberately interfered with open bidding procedure.
• An ambulance is a diminishing asset. The public paid full value for it new, but it will be 
worthless in 5-7 years. St. Luke's gets all the benefit. All the taxpayer gets is a depreciated hunk 
of metal.
• Courts have held that just because something is important (like ambulances) doesn't mean the 
public has to subsidize a private company's need for it.
• As we interpret Idaho law, if the real effect of a government expenditure is to relieve a private 
entity of normal business expenses, without ensuring proportional public ownership or control, 
it's unconstitutional — even if the service has some public utility.
Summary: The ambulance and garage do not primarily benefit the public, but rather subsidize 
St. Luke’s ordinary business operations, in violation of Article VIII, Section 2 of the Idaho 
Constitution. Ambulances and the facilities necessary to house them are a normal and 
necessary expense of operating a hospital. The public received no unique ownership interest, 
service guarantee, or meaningful additional public benefit that it would not have otherwise 
received through St. Luke’s private business model. This is precisely the type of transaction that 
the Idaho Constitution’s gift clause is intended to prohibit: private business expenses shifted 
onto taxpayers without adequate public return. The deceit on the part of St. Luke's to hide from 
the board a legitimate competitive proposal, also invalidates the transaction in the eyes of Idaho 
law.

Other arguments:

• The MMHD board recently appointed a task force to build an "information campaign." As 
further evidence of the inappropriate "partner" alliance between St. Luke's and MMHD, there are 
more St. Luke's staff consulting on this PR effort than there are MMHD board members. The 
district is relying on paid St. Luke's staff to formulate their message for them and advise on 
promotion strategies and tactics. The purpose of the 'campaign' is to convince the patron of the 
value of the district. The effort itself is permissible, so far as the information presented follows 
the neutrality provisions of applicable Idaho statutes. But the heavy involvement of St. Luke's 
staff hardly demonstrates an "arms-length" relationship.
In this packet is a petition asking you to conduct an investigation signed by both full-time 
residents of MMHD and second homeowners. We argue that second homeowners have 
standing because they pay tax to MMHD. Current Idaho law holds that any petition to dissolve a 
hospital taxing district must be signed by 10% of the property owners in the district. That surely 
gives our second homeowners standing to petition to the Attorney General's Office regarding 
the constitutionality of the district's decisions. 



 

Documentation  
(not otherwise specified in the Supporting Arguments document)
—Idaho Court Case City of Boise v. Frazier (2007) Source: Hawleytroxell.com
The court reversed a lower court ruling holding, in essence, 'if you can wait to build it, or if it's a 
new development rather than an emergency fix, you need to go to the voters'. This significantly 
narrowed the "ordinary and necessary" exception and made it more difficult for local governments 
in Idaho to incur long-term debt for large projects without first securing a two-thirds public vote.
• Immediacy and Urgency: We interpret the core of the Court's interpretation was that an 
expense is "necessary" in the constitutional sense only if there is a compelling need for it to be 
incurred right now, or at least within the current fiscal year. It's about an urgent, immediate 
requirement, not a long-term plan or a desirable improvement that can be spread over many years.
• ”Pay-as-You-Go" Principle: The Court reaffirmed the underlying principle of Article VIII, § 3, 
which is to generally compel local governments to operate on a "pay-as-you-go" basis. This means 
that if a city wants to undertake a project that will incur debt beyond what it can pay for with current 
year's income and revenue, it must get voter approval. The "ordinary and necessary" exception 
was meant to be a narrow allowance for truly essential, immediate needs.
• Distinguishing from Long-Term Projects: The airport parking expansion, while perhaps 
"necessary" for the long-term growth and functionality of the airport, was not deemed "necessary" 
in the immediate, urgent sense. The Court implicitly (and in subsequent cases explicitly) contrasted 
such long-term capital projects with things like essential repairs, maintenance, or immediate public 
safety needs that cannot wait for a public vote.
—The Wasden Agreement Sources: MMHD/Luke's Health Services Agreement; MMHD Lease/
Option Agreement (Section B.2 Acquisition Values describes the credit system referred to in the 
argument); Idaho Statesman (agreement); Idaho Statesman (Weiser)
—Lack of bidding process - The minutes and supporting materials older than 2025 are not 
available on MMHDs website and given the number of volunteer hours devoted to researching/
writing these arguments, we decline to put the volunteer district staff through an intensive easter 
egg hunt for something we are reasonably certain is not there. No news report nor other publicly 
accessible source ever cited a bidding process in any of these projects. The reports indicate 
MMHD approved the projects and transferred funds to St. Luke's to manage the construction/
acquisition. If the Attorney General's office wishes verification, it has far more sophisticated 
methods for obtaining this information than we do.
—Lack of public support for workforce housing The Star-News, May 23, 2024

https://hawleytroxell.com/insights/not-to-build-city-of-boise-v-frazier-further-restricts-local-governments-ability-to-finance-public-projects/#:~:text=Home%20%2F%20Insights%20%2F%20Frazier%20Further%20Restricts,Ability%20to%20Finance%20Public%20Projects
https://mmhd.info/wp-content/uploads/2025/05/Healthcare-Services-Agreement-MMHD-St-Lukes-fully-executed_2016-1.pdf
https://mmhd.info/wp-content/uploads/2025/05/Lease-Option-Agreement-MMHD-St-Lukes-fully-executed_2016-1.pdf
https://mmhd.info/wp-content/uploads/2025/05/Lease-Option-Agreement-MMHD-St-Lukes-fully-executed_2016-1.pdf
https://www.idahostatesman.com/news/business/article40837659.html
https://www.idahostatesman.com/news/business/article40849551.html
https://www.mccallstarnews.com/m-d-housing-and-ems-levy-fail/


 

Email exchange between St. Luke’s McCall and Valley County EMS officials:



Text of August 2024 Citizen Petition for Workforce Housing Advisory Vote

To: Members of the McCall Memorial Hospital District Board of Trustees:
Re: Public comment on 2025 Budget Hearing
Date: August 13, 2024

I would like to submit the following as comments for the public hearing on Aug. 20 for the proposed FY25 
district budget. 

I urge you to place a hold on your plans to provide tax dollars to employee housing for St. Luke’s McCall until 
a non-binding referendum is held among district patrons. 

I recently reviewed the joint employee housing project the St. Luke's McCall Foundation and the McCall 
Memorial Hospital District have entered into. As I interpret the plan, several million tax dollars will be invested 
in this housing project without any significant attempt to ask the voters how they feel. I understand the 
foundation is working on some public presentations, but that appears to be for their fund-raising purposes. 
The time for such efforts on the part of the taxing district should have been a year ago, before the funds were 
originally committed.

Attached is a copy of the public notice that ran in The Star-News in August, 2023. Down at the bottom, in 
small type, was the only published mention of district funds being committed to an employee housing project. 
If there were others, please enlighten me. I couldn't find them. I'm going to guess that nobody showed up to 
the public hearing to object. It's not hard to figure out why. I object to the allocation and I didn't see the notice.

The foundation may certainly use their private donations to subsidize housing for St. Luke's. But the taxing 
district board must show much more interest in the opinions of district patrons than it has demonstrated so far.

As you know, just three months ago an employee housing proposal from the McCall-Donnelly School District 
went down in the worst landslide I can remember. From what I heard, patrons who did not object to the 
project itself, were offended the school district committed to it and told the voter about it later. In that instance, 
the school board found $4 million in funds it could legally shift to a subsidized housing project. It was stunning 
to me that the school board considered that amount of money to be at their unilateral discretion. 

However, nobody from the public objected, or at least none was reported. The MD board must have taken 
that to mean that the electorate was as enthralled with the project as they were. So they decided to expand it 
and ask for more money in a bond levy, which brought it to a vote. They held a couple poorly publicized open 
houses and a voluntary, unscientific poll was taken. They got their pants taken down.

I urge you to learn from the school board's costly misread of public sentiment. In periods of political 
polarization, people are afraid to voice their opinions, even socially. There is only one place where they feel 
safe to tell the truth, and that is in the voting booth. 'No' voters never show up to open houses. They don't 
answer SurveyMonkey questionnaires. And especially in these tragic times of speech shaming and culture 
cancelling, they don't show up to public hearings either.

It will be a long time before MDSD recovers its credibility with its patrons. The hospital taxing district is 
headed down the exact same road. 



It wasn't until February of this year that an article finally showed up in The Star-News touting the the 
hospital housing project. In it, the MMHD board chair announced: “The District definitely plans to be part of 
the project.” Can I be blamed for thinking it premature to be claiming patron support for a project they 
hadn't even been told about yet?

Is the board absolutely confident that "The District" taxpayers want to be part of this project? If I were in 
your shoes, I'd be really uncomfortable making a decision of this magnitude if I were the slightest bit 
unsure. Doesn't the M-D landslide defeat on an identical project put any doubt in your minds?

There is a quite painless way that you can be sure at absolutely no cost to the district. You can actually ask 
your patrons directly. As a taxing district board, you can ask for a non-binding referendum question to be 
placed on the November ballot. There isn't a poll you can buy that will be as accurate.

The MMHD board has the legal authority to keep committing funds to this project despite the warning 
signals fired in the school district meltdown. The question is, just because you can do it, should you do it? 
The only way to show the people who pay the taxes that you care more about what they think than what 
you think, is to give them a say. You may get overwhelming support. You might not. That's a chance public 
servants of good fiduciary conscience should always be willing to take.

Tomi Grote
Former Co-Publisher, The Star-News
tomigrote@icloud.com

mailto:tomigrote@icloud.com


6/17/2025

Progress Update
Ambulance Shelter & Living Quarters



Status Date:

Amber Green N/A PM: SS/MD

IHT PM: Beth Sermersheim Ashley Josephson GC: Scott Hedrick

O
ct
-2
3

N
o
v
-2
3

D
e
c-
2
3

Ja
n
-2
4

F
e
b
-2
4

M
a
r-
2
4

A
p
r-
2
4

M
a
y
-2
4

Ju
n
-2
4

Ju
l-
2
4

A
u
g
-2
4

S
e
p
-2
4

O
ct
-2
4

N
o
v
-2
4

D
e
c-
2
4

Ja
n
-2
5

F
e
b
-2
5

M
a
r-
2
5

A
p
r-
2
5

M
a
y
-2
5

Ju
n
-2
5

Ju
l-
2
5

A
u
g
-2
5

S
e
p
-2
5

O
ct
-2
5

N
o
v
-2
5

D
e
c-
2
5

Ja
n
-2
6

F
e
b
-2
6

M
a
r-
2
6

A
p
r-
2
6

M
a
y
-2
6

Ju
n
-2
6

Baseline

Forecast

1 1 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1 1

1 1

1 1

1 1 1

1 1 1

1 1 1

1 1 1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

Status Key: Cost Schedule

Green  +/- 5% of budget On-time / ahead

Amber 5-10% variance Delay <10 days baseline

Red 10+% variance Delay >10 days baseline

30-day Look Ahead

Probability- Exterior wall framing activities will begin Monday morning (06/09)

- Interior wall framing activities will begin mid-June

- All framing activities will be completed by the end of the month

- Building envelope construction will begin in early July

- Complete licensing agreement with the City of McCall for the 
fiber optic feed that runs through Hewitt Street

- Expand the asphalt patch in Hewitt Street to get a more 
consistent base

Capital FY 25 Spend 1,451,279$   

112,424$   

Cost

-$    

Actual FY 24 Spend 112,424$   

2

Capital FY 27 Spend -$    

 Cost Variance Commentary:

CO 1, Cost of the shower that was changed after bid date 04/21/25 ($906)

CO 2, Issued for additional sidewalk/snowmelt removal and replacement and addition of snowmelt to sidewalk leading to quarters. 

($43,972). Change order will be issued to delete gutter and support on north side of building. Will install protection for HVAC units.

CO 3, De-watering and over excavation due to moisture issues as a result of winter snow melting ($21,000)

CO 4, Lumber escalation ($4,800)

Key Accomplishments Prior Month

-$    

131,091$   1,339,770$   

-$    -$    

-$    0%

#DIV/0! -$   

131,091$   
Go Live

10/3/259/9/25

10/14/2510/14/25

50%

-$    

0$    0%

-$   1,339,770$   

- The start of constrctuion was delayed 13-days due to excessive snow on the site (04/21/25)

 Schedule Variance Commentary:

Totals Less Financial Reserve 1,563,703$   1,563,703$   -$    0%

1,258,477$   (192,802)$   

192,802$   192,802$   #DIV/0!Capital FY 26 Spend

IHT 75,000$   

Impact: Cost or 

Delay

Delay / Cost

Risk

1

-13%

* Schedule deltas represent the percentage of slippage from the original scheduled duration (Forecast Finish - Baseline Finish) / (Baseline Finish - Baseline Start))

Medical Equipment 15,000$   

-$    

-$    

-$    -$    

-$    

0%

Building Structure

0%

0%

0%

9/17/25

0%

9/9/25 10/10/25

9/9/25 10/10/25

9/9/25 10/3/25

10/14/25

IHT Installation

#DIV/0!

Equipment Installation

10/14/25

7/1/25

Design & Construction 1,309,162$   1,309,162$   -$    

Contingency 130,486$   

-$   0%

-$   

-$   

-$   

-$   

75,000$   -$    0%

FFE / Art 34,055$   34,055$   -$    0%

15,000$   -$    

130,486$   -$    

Contingency Remaining G  The current contingency is $60,035

9/9/25Budget Status:

Actuals Committed

9/25/257/1/25

FFE Installation

Risk G  See "Issues and Risks" log below

7/1/25 9/30/25

7/1/25 9/30/25
Building Finishes

9/25/25

Building Envelope

STATUS Strata Budgeted Forecast Variance ($ & %)

Exec Sponsor:

Q1

EPMO PM:

0%

0%

Schedule G The project is on schedule

4/29/25 6/30/25

4/29/25 6/30/25

 Construction  of a new ambulance garage on the McCall hospital campus.  The project site is located on the north side of Hewitt Street. 

Start

4/1/25 9/3/25Overall Status:

Project Description:

Site Work

Cost G The project is forecasted to be completed on budget

- Footings and stem walls have been poured

- Underground utilities have been installed and inspected

- Subgrade prep has been completed for the interior building

slab

- Vapor barrier and reinforcing has been set and the concrete

slab on grade has been poured

Decisions Requested

1)

2)

Issues & Risks (all High & Medium risks from Risk Register)

Q4 Q1 Q2

0%
Construction 

Procurement

4/1/25 9/17/25

4/1/25

4/1/25 9/3/25

Prior Month Var.

10/3/25

9/9/25 10/3/25

Update

The unpredictable McCall weather will continue to be a risk to the project schedule

PRE-DESIGN DESIGN CONSTRUCTION OPENING

C00643 6/6/2025

Q3 Q4

Supply Chain:

Q2 Q3Q1 Q2 Q3

FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026

Schedule Summary Finish Delta*

McCall Ambulance Garage

Other Issues:

3

4

Landscaping on the west side of the existing concrete wall may need to be replaced if it cannot be 

preserved during construction

50%

0

0

0

0

0%

0%

0 0 0%

0 0 0%

Today



PCO/CO#
Approal 
Status

Reason Allowances Contingency Financial Reserve Total Notes

0.00 130,486.00 0.00 130,486.00
1 Approved Shower stall specification 906.00 129,580.00
2 Approved Sidewalk & Snowmelt 43,972.00 85,608.00
3 Approved Dewatering & Overex 21,070.00 64,538.00
4 Approved Lumber escalation 4,503.00 60,035.00
5 Pending Credit to remove gutter -600.00 60,635.00
6 Pending Added Hewitt St. Paving 19,158.31 41,476.69

0.00 41,476.69 0.00 89,009.31

C00643 McCall Ambulance Garage and Crew Quarters



SCOTT HEDRICK CONSTRUCTION CHANGE ORDER
1154 NORTH ORCHARD NUMBER: 1

BOISE IDAHO 83706

PHONE 345-5800 DATE 5/30/2025 JOB NO.25-01

FAX       345-5825 JOB: St Lukes Ambulance

COST #

TO: Steve CCD. #

SL Ambulance P.R. #

R.F.I. #

Owner C.O.#

DISTRIBUTE TO:

We hereby agree to make the change (s) specified below:

Steel Angle (600.00)$                           

Gutter delete and Shed roof Add -$                                  

$0.00

Please return signed original
Note:This Change Order becomes part of and in conformance with the existing contract.

WE Agree hereby to make the changes (s) specified above at this price> ($600.00)

Date Previous Contract Amount $1,225,312.79

Authorized Signature (Contractor) Bayley Goodwin Revised Contract Total $1,224,712.79

Accepted- The above prices and specifications of 

this Change Order are satisfactory and are hereby Date of acceptance

accepted. All work to be performed under same terms

and conditions as specified in original contract unless Signature

otherwise stipulated.

1



To: Contact:Scott Hedrick Construction

St. Lukes Ambulance Bay Additional AsphaltProject Name: Bid Number:

Fax: 208-345-5825Boise, ID 83706  US

Address: 1154 N Orchard St Phone: 208-345-5800

Project Location: McCall Bid Date: 6/5/2025

Total PriceUnit PriceUnitItem DescriptionItem # Estimated Quantity

1 2,758.00 SF $0.83 $2,289.14Demo Asphalt

2 2,758.00 SF $5.40 $14,893.20Asphalt Paving

Total Bid Price: $17,182.34

Notes:

• Above shown pricing doesn't included Performance & Payment Bonds, please add 1.5% to total price if needed.
• Catch Basins are excluded in above shown pricing.
• Concrete collars are excluded in above shown pricing.
• Dewatering is excluded in above shown pricing.
• Haul off of all excess pipe spoils are excluded in above shown pricing.
• Above shown prices do not include permits.
• Pipe material pricing is based on current prices.  Due to significant market fluctuations, pipe material costs can only be determined at the time of

shipment.  Any increase from the current prices will be passed on to the owner.
• Quality Control Testing is excluded in above shown pricing.
• Rock Excavation is excluded in above shown pricing.
• Price does not include any scope of work not specifically called out on the above shown bid schedule.
• Survey is excluded in above shown pricing.
• SWPPP is excluded in above shown pricing.
• Above pricing is contingent on agreed upon schedule between Granite Excavation & the GC/Owner.
• Above pricing for pipe is good only until the end of business the day this proposal is received.  Pipe order will not be placed until directed by the

Owner/GC.  Materials on Hand will be billed out same day and is due within 30 days.
• Due to significant market fluctuations and volatility not all pipe types or dimensions may be available at time of order.  Pricing for pipe not available

at time of order will not be held. Costs can only be determined at the time of shipment.  Any increase from the current prices will be passed on to
the owner.

• Above pricing is based off of plan set date 1/1/11.  Approved/Not Approved for Construction.  Pricing may change once approved plans are
received.

• Above pricing includes (1) CCTV & Flush.  Additional CCTV & Flush request by the Inspector or Warranty requests will be billed as a change order.
• Above pricing is based on Civil Construction Drawings only.  This proposal does not include any pricing from Landscape, Structural, or Architectural

drawings.
• Due to recent Tariffs being assessed to certain countries, some material pricing on imports can not be held.  Final material costs can only be

determined at time of shipment.

Payment Terms:

Progress billing will be submitted by the 25th of each month.  Payment is due by the 10th of the following month.

6/5/2025 1:53:44 PM Page 1 of 2



ACCEPTED:

The above prices, specifications and conditions are satisfactory and
are hereby accepted.

Buyer:

Signature:

Date of Acceptance:

CONFIRMED:

Granite Excavation Inc

Authorized Signature:

Estimator: Brad Sayers

(208) 315-2991   brad@graniteexcavation.com

6/5/2025 1:53:44 PM Page 2 of 2



SCOTT HEDRICK CONSTRUCTION CHANGE ORDER
1154 NORTH ORCHARD NUMBER: 1
BOISE IDAHO 83706
PHONE 345-5800 DATE 4/10/2025 JOB NO.25-01
FAX       345-5825 JOB: St Lukes Ambulance

COST #
TO: Steve CCD. #

SL Ambulance McCall P.R. #
R.F.I. #
Owner C.O.#
DISTRIBUTE TO:

We hereby agree to make the change (s) specified below:

Prep and Asphalt per McCall PW Direction 17,182.34$                       

Safety 0.50% $85.91
Bond 1% $171.82
OHP 10% $1,718.23

Please return signed original
Note:This Change Order becomes part of and in conformance with the existing contract.

WE Agree hereby to make the changes (s) specified above at this price> $19,158.31
Date Previous Contract Amount $1,224,712.79
Authorized Signature (Contractor) Bayley Goodwin Revised Contract Total $1,243,871.10
Accepted- The above prices and specifications of 

this Change Order are satisfactory and are hereby Date of acceptance

accepted. All work to be performed under same terms

and conditions as specified in original contract unless Signature

otherwise stipulated.

1







Status Date:

Amber Green N/A PM: SS/MD

IHT PM: Beth Sermersheim Ashley Josephson GC: Layton

O
ct
-2
3

N
o
v
-2
3

D
e
c-
2
3

Ja
n
-2
4

F
e
b
-2
4

M
a
r-
2
4

A
p
r-
2
4

M
a
y
-2
4

Ju
n
-2
4

Ju
l-
2
4

A
u
g
-2
4

S
e
p
-2
4

O
ct
-2
4

N
o
v
-2
4

D
e
c-
2
4

Ja
n
-2
5

F
e
b
-2
5

M
a
r-
2
5

A
p
r-
2
5

M
a
y
-2
5

Ju
n
-2
5

Ju
l-
2
5

A
u
g
-2
5

S
e
p
-2
5

O
ct
-2
5

N
o
v
-2
5

D
e
c-
2
5

Ja
n
-2
6

F
e
b
-2
6

M
a
r-
2
6

A
p
r-
2
6

M
a
y
-2
6

Ju
n
-2
6

Baseline

Forecast

1 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1 1

1

1

1 1

1 1

1

1

1 1

1 1

1 1

1 1

1

1

1 1

1 1

1

1

1

1

1

1

- A portion of the construction contingency was utilized to cover the cost of abatement, testing and inspection services and permits

Status Key: Cost Schedule

Green  +/- 5% of budget On-time / ahead

Amber 5-10% variance Delay <10 days baseline

Red 10+% variance Delay >10 days baseline

29,686$   3,315,489$   

-$    -$    

-$    #DIV/0!

#DIV/0! -$   

3,242,960$   -$    

418,662$   -$    0%

Capital FY 25 Spend 3,242,960$   

81,525$   

-$    

-$    -$    

-$    #DIV/0!

418,662$   

-$   

Actual FY 24 Spend -$    

Totals 3,661,622$   3,661,622$   -$    0%

IHT 200,000$   

Impact: Cost or 

Delay

Delay / Cost

May need to push parking lot paving and landscaping to Spring of 26 50%

0%0

Risk

1

0%

* Schedule deltas represent the percentage of slippage from the original scheduled duration (Forecast Finish - Baseline Finish) / (Baseline Finish - Baseline Start))

Medical Equipment -$    

100,945$    

-$    

-$    -$    

51,839$   

0%

Building Demolition

0%

#DIV/0!Turn Over

IHT Installation

0%

0%

4/7/25

0%

0%

9/16/25

7/10/25 8/26/25

7/10/25 8/26/25

6/25/25 8/28/25

9/26/25

Roofing

0%

Site Work

9/4/25

6/17/25

Punchwork and 

Substantial Completion

8/28/256/25/25

9/26/259/4/25

9/3/25

50%

0%

2

3,416,434$   

Capital FY 26 Spend

9/17/25

9/16/259/3/25

9/17/25 9/17/25

9/17/25

 Schedule Variance Commentary:

Capital FY 27 Spend -$    

 Cost Variance Commentary:

Design & Construction 3,272,973$   3,315,489$   42,516$   

Contingency 163,649$   

-$   1%

-$   

-$   

-$   

-$   

200,000$   -$    0%

FFE / Art 25,000$   25,000$   -$    0%

-$    -$    

121,133$   (42,516)$   

Contingency Remaining G  The current contingency is $121,500

7/14/25Budget Status:

Actuals Committed

6/24/256/17/25

Interior Construction

Risk G  See "Issues and Risks" log below

6/25/25 8/19/25

6/25/25 8/19/25

Exterior Wall 

Construction

6/24/25Earthwork and 

Foundations

STATUS Strata Budgeted Forecast Variance ($ & %)

Exec Sponsor:

Q1

EPMO PM:

0%

0%

Schedule G The project is on schedule

4/2/25 6/24/25

4/2/25 6/24/25

  The project consists of the demolition of the existing 50's wing of the hospital, construction of new exterior wall on the east side of the 90's wing, mechanical/electrical tie-ins 

to the Area A expansion, constructon of new parking lot in the old location of the 50's wing, landscaping, etc. Start

3/10/25 8/12/25Overall Status:

Project Description:

Mobilization and Set Up

Cost G The project is forecasted to be completed on budget

Key Accomplishments Prior Month 30-day Look Ahead

Probability- Building demolition is scheduled to begin on 06/09 however, 

some additional samples from the existing roof were taken to test 

for asbestos.  If they come back positive, the building demolition 

will be delayed about a week to allow for the remediation 

activities to be completed

- Footing and foundation work will begin in mid-June

- Exterior wall framing will begin around the end of June

- Coordinating road closures with Public Works so chip sealing 
activities can be completed. 

- IHT, fire alarm, etc. activities were completed in advance of 

the 50's wing demolition

- ICRA / Construction Containtment has been installed

- Minor selective demolition activities have begun

Decisions Requested

1)

2)

Issues & Risks (all High & Medium risks from Risk Register)

Q4 Q1 Q2

0%
Construction 

Procurement

3/31/25 4/7/25

3/31/25

3/10/25 8/12/25

Prior Month Var.

9/3/25

7/14/25 9/3/25

PRE-DESIGN DESIGN CONSTRUCTION OPENING

C00717 6/6/2025

Q3 Q4

Supply Chain:

Q2 Q3Q1 Q2 Q3

FY 2024 FY 2025 FY 2026

Schedule Summary Finish Delta*

McCall Expansion Area B

Update

The unpredictable McCall weather will continue to be a risk to the project schedule

Other Issues:

0

0 0 0%

0

0

0

0

0%

0%

0 0 0%

0 0

Today

Delay/Cost



PCO/CO#
Approal 

Status
Reason Allowances Contingency

Financial 

Reserve
Total Notes

0 163,649 0 163,649

  Approved Asbestos Survey 7,557 156,092

  Approved Asbestos Abatement 21,950 134,142

  Approved Asbestos Survey Roof/Wiring 12,467 121,675

PCO 2 Approved Door Hardware 544 121,131 Added comm closet door, smoke seal and closer 

PCO 3 Approved Credit ‐369 121,500 Stainless steel door protection reduced; conflict with door hardware

PCO 5 Pending ISI 0  

PCO 6 Pending Parking Lot Expansion 0 Plan mod submittal in progress 

PCO 7 Pending 2,873

PCO 8 Pending Equipment Screen

PCO 9 Pending Comm Room Power

PCO 10 Approved Fire Alarm Tariff 3,486

Total 0 115,141 0 48,508

C00717 McCall Area B



June 17, 2025

McCall Memorial Hospital District Board Meeting
Finance Report



As of April 2025 Close

Project Name Original Quote Prior Year Year Total  FY25 Forecast 

 Carryover from 

Prior Year 

 Current Year 

Taxing District 

Reimbursement 

 Anticipated 

Carryover 

16.995.1401 ‐ McCall Urgent Care (MMHD Funded) 2,113,336                  2,649,751                  121,735                     129,955           

16.267.1371 ‐ McCall Allen Nokes Parking Lot Improvements 542,223                     498,495                     88,037                       88,037               

16.145.1193 ‐ MCCALL ASL AMBULANCE GARAGE ‐ Taxing District Funded 1,300,000                  112,424                     19,045                       1,638,000        

Total Spend 3,955,559                  3,260,670                  228,817                     1,855,992         1,187,576            1,300,000               (631,584)          

 McCall Taxing District Project Tracking 



 

1“Adjusted Operating EBIDA” reports SLHS normal operations, before out-of-the-ordinary impacts. 

St. Luke’s McCall Financial Performance Highlights — April 2025 
KEY MESSAGE:  

April represents the first month of the third quarter of the fiscal year. Entering FY25 assumptions built into the 

target include continued decreases in traveler usage, inflationary adjustments, as well as impacts to 340B. 
 

Our clinical quality, throughput, and access to care all impact our financial performance. In the short term we will 
continue to monitor our financial performance closely in order to inform an operational response and continuous 

improvement. McCall is currently forecasted to miss target for the year.   

Operating Indicators: Variances to target were in line with typical seasonal activity 

but were also affected by unique operational challenges and special community needs.  
Relative to April: 
• Average Daily Census was 3.09, below target for the month. 
• Surgical cases at 98 for April.  

• 42 Cataract Procedures and 35 Ortho Surgeries were completed in April.  
• Endo completed 79 procedures for the month.  

• ED visits at 11 per day, under target for the month due to seasonality. 
• OP Hospital Visits are above target for the month at 72 per day.  
• Births decreased to 6 in April.  

Capital Purchases:  FY25 SLHS funded capital purchases have been 

prioritized to maintain safety standards, meet regulations, and respond to 

operational and plant needs.   

• Imaging Mobile C Arm 

• Women’s Infant Hearing Screener with Cart 

• Lab ABL90 Flex Plus Analyzer 
Payor Mix:  FY25 has seen a decrease in Governmental payers shifting toward 
Commercial and Other/Self Pay payors.  

• Government payors account for 57.4% of payors in FY25, a decrease compared to 
the rolling 12-month average.  

• Commercial payors account for 34.9% of Payor Mix for FY25, up compared to the 
rolling 12 month average.  

• Other & Self Pay is up compared to the rolling 12 month average, 7.7% of overall 
Payor  Mix in FY25. 

Trended Financial Performance: Total YTD Adjusted Operating Expenses1 as a % of YTD Adjusted Operating Revenue1 is at 75% 

vs. a target of 73%. Expenses are higher due to April increases in Labor and Other Supplies.  

• YTD April Labor expense as a percentage of Adjusted Operating Revenue1 is higher then target. The increase was driven by higher 
wages in the Pharmacy, along with increased traveler spend in Imaging and Surgical Services.  

• YTD Supply expenses through April are under target as a percentage of Adjusted Operating Revenue1. YTD surgical volumes have 
been lower, which has driven down spending in Implants and General Medical Supplies. In April, we experienced an uptick in 
surgical volumes, resulting in increased spending in both categories.  

• Drug expense YTD as a percentage of Adjusted Operating Revenue1 is slightly below target for the month. During the month, McCall 
experienced a decrease in drug expenses related to the treatment of Multiple Sclerosis and the use of Antineoplastic drugs.  

• Other Expenses YTD as a percentage of Adjusted Operating Revenue1 is above target in April due to increased spending on repairs 
and maintenance, specifically related to door and fire damper repairs, along with a rise in fuel and oil costs.  



June 17, 2025

McCall Memorial Hospital District Board Meeting
SLM COO/CNO Update



2

Culture/Workforce Innovation
 Staffing
 Housing 

Access
 New Services
 New Providers
 Construction Updates

Safety & Quality
 Quality Scores

McCall Updates 



3

Metric Assessment Key Trends

SSE Falls Sustaining. No falls reaching the level of serious safety event this fiscal year.

DART: Employee Injury Rolling 12 month DART rate 3.02. FY25 goal 12.29

SSI: Knee Prothesis, Fracture, Hip 
Prothesis, Appendectomy, C-
section, Cholecystectomy

Sustaining zero SSI’s for rolling 12-month for these SSI categories

SSI: Breast Zero Breast SSI for rolling 12 months

SSI: Hernia 1 Hernia SSI in November 2023

BCMA: Med Safety Above goal for year, slightly below goal for March

Mortality 4 over last rolling 12 months. Risk-adjusted above expected mortality, sepsis-related death.

Care Experience: LTR
Patient Care Services Above goal for fiscal year.

Care Experience: LTR
ED Above goal for fiscal year.

Hand Hygiene Sustaining above goal

April
Data


	6.17.25 MMHD Board Meeting Packet
	5.20.25 MMHD Board Meeting Minutes
	6.26.25 SLM CB STMM
	Safety Together Mission Moment
	McCall Security �Guard Story
	Commitment to Safety

	5-2025 Balance Sheet Detail
	5-2025 Balance Sheet
	5-2025 P&L with Budget
	MMHD 2025.06 Asset Transfer Request
	PF56337-Mccall_Memor-FORM_12_FEEAGMT-2
	PF56337-Mccall_Memor-QUOTE-1
	6.4.25 MMHD HSA Workgroup Meeting Packet
	MMHD FY24 STATEMENT OF RENTS (FINAL)
	McCall Statement of Rents FP12 FY2023
	McCall Statement of Rents FP12 FY2022
	McCall Statement of Rents FP12 FY2021 12.30
	McCall Statement of Rents - September 2020

	6.5.25 MMHD Public Information Campaign Workgroup Mtg Packet
	6.5.25 MMHD Public Information Campaign Workgroup Mtg Agenda
	MMHD Public Info_ FAQs Revised

	ADP4B5F.tmp
	McCall Memorial Hospital District
	Proposed FY26 Levy��$1.5M
	Draft M&O Budget

	ADPEA34.tmp
	Ambulance Shelter & Living Quarters
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3

	ADPE69E.tmp
	PLACEHOLDER

	ADP884F.tmp
	Finance Report

	ADP7CCA.tmp
	SLM COO/CNO Update
	McCall Updates 
	Slide Number 3


	Joints Tenants Agreement, final w. Exhibits, reduced pdf
	--- Joint Tenancy Agreement, Final  
	Exhibit A (Legal)
	Exhibit B (MOU)
	Exhibit C (Option Agreement)
	Exhibit D (First Amendment to Option Agreement)
	Exhibit E (Special Warranty Deed)

	Special Warranty Deed, w. Exh.
	---Special Warranty Deed, final
	Exhibit A (Legal)

	Ag_Complaintpacket.pdf
	Arguments

	McCall Ambulance Garage 061125.pdf
	McCall Ambulance Garage 060925.pdf
	C00643 McCall Ambulance Garage 060625.pdf

	C00643 McCall AmbulanceContingency Tracking
	CO Form - Gutter and steel angle
	Asphalt Granite CO#6
	CO#6 Asphalt

	McCall Expansion Area B 061125.pdf
	C00717 McCall Expansion Area B 060625.pdf
	C00717 McCall Area B Contingency Tracking.pdf




